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Hag Dyke, situated in the picturesque Yorkshire Dales National Park 1 mile from 

the village of Kettlewell, but some 1525 feet high on the slopes of Great Whernside, is 

a Scout Hostel administered by the 1st Ben Rhydding Scout Group of Ilkley, West 

Yorkshire. The building was leased to the Group in 1947 and has been run ever since 

by a group of volunteer wardens for the benefit of Scouts and other youth groups. The 

1st Ben Rhydding Scout Group was formed in 1931 and has remained in active 

existence ever since despite periods of difficulty, notably during the Second World 

War when most of the scouters were lost to the forces. 
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Compilers Comments 

 

 
Although I spent twelve years of my early life, from the age of eight, as a 

member of a Scout Group in Keighley, during that time I had never visited nor heard 

of Hag Dyke. It was only much later when my elder daughter left our home on 

Tyneside, to return to Yorkshire and became an Assistant Cub Scout Leader with the 

1st Ben Rhydding Scout Group that stories of Hag Dyke and the activities taking place 

there filtered home.  

 

My wife, a Cub Scout Leader and Assistant District Commissioner Cub 

Scouts, and I, a Group Scout Leader, were busy resurrecting a defunct village Scout 

Group in the Tyne valley and were somewhat envious of the Ben Rhydding Group, 

their facilities and activities. It was probably the early 1980s before I visited Hag 

Dyke for the first time in the company of my future son-in-law. 

 

Some 30 years later it was suggested that I might compile a history of Hag 

Dyke before much of the early history is lost and to put on record the invaluable work 

done by so many dedicated individuals who over the years have worked tirelessly to 

make Hag Dyke into the superb facility that one sees today. 

 

It has proved to be an interesting exercise and I must thank all those who have 

contributed and supported the work. In addition to personal contributions, data for 

Part 2, relating to the owners and occupiers of Hag Dyke prior to 1947, has been 

largely gleaned from the Kettlewell Parish Records, Census Records, the Deeds 

Register at Wakefield, Press Reports and archive material held in various Record 

Offices. In an attempt to tie up some loose ends I contracted the Archive Service at 

Wakefield to undertake some research but with minimal positive results. For the 

remainder, Visitor Log Books from the early days of the hostel proved to be an 

excellent source of information but I am told that subsequent books suffered from 

vandalism, were withdrawn, and have been lost. There is therefore a less than 

comprehensive record during some periods. Memories of more recent times have been 

extremely hard to elicit. Letters and e-mails have been sent to around 50 known 

contacts seeking their anecdotes and memories but it has been disappointing that so 

few have responded. What has taken place in the last 20,10 or even 5 years will soon 

be history and should be recorded. Further contributions will be welcomed and can be 

sent to me by e-mail p-smith48@sky.com  A new Visitors Log Book has been placed 

at Hag Dyke and visitors are invited to make an entry. 

 

 

 

 

       Peter Smith 

       Ryton 

       Tyne and Wear 

        

       March 2013 
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Part 1 

 

Kettlewell 
 

Kettlewell is situated in a narrow part of Upper Wharfedale, almost 

surrounded by mountains, some 16 miles from Skipton, Pateley Bridge and Leyburn. 

Before the arrival of man Wharfedale was densely wooded with oak, elm and elder, 

ash woods on limestone and woodlands of hazel and birch on higher ground. The 

earliest settlers forged routeways and made their settlements on higher ground. Iron 

age fields and hut circles frequent the higher ground of the most populated areas of 

Grassington and Kettlewell. The Romans left their mark on the dale with a road 

through Wharfedale over Stake Moss to Bainbridge in Wensleydale. In AD74 the 

Romans subdued the Brigantes of the area who resisted by building the wall of Tor 

Dyke above Kettlewell defending the areas to the north and west. They left by AD410 

leaving some of the Romano-Britons who settled in the dale and cleared the valley 

floor areas. The Celtic kingdom of Craven was established and in AD620 the Celts 

were joined by the Angles, lowland farmers who instigated further clearances and new 

farming methods. These early settlers had an important influence on the form of 

settlements that are seen in the dale today. Animals were kept in safety surrounded by 

houses, the origin of the compact form of settlement around the village green that is 

common in Upper Wharfedale. In the 10th century, the Vikings established individual 

farmsteads for sheep farming on the unoccupied land at the head of the dale and 

contributed significantly to the language of the dales. Viking settlements differed 

from the lowland Anglian settlements in that they were very scattered, mainly 

individual farms but also hamlets that instead of being grouped together were spread 

along the dale side.  

 

Some of the fields to the south of the village have slight, parallel terraces 

called lynchets made by Anglian farmers in their ploughing. Ploughing was 

undertaken at right angles to the slope and allowed the soil to be turned down the 

slope, reinforced by the placing of stones on the edge of the ploughed strip. These and 

the whole arrangement of the village and its fields and pastures are typical off an 

Anglian village of about the 7th or 8th century. The fields near the river above 

Kettlewell village became flood fields and are of little use for husbandry whilst the 

steepness of the hillsides permits little in the way of intakes. At the Domesday Survey 

there were only about 60 ï 80 acres of plough land but these were extended in the 

next two centuries to nearly 500 acres. 

 

Just before the Norman conquest a few Norsemen made sheep farms on the 

higher ground of the fells and their dialect was absorbed into the local language and 

many of the words are still in use and can be recognised. 

  

The oldest record of Kettlewell is its name in the Domesday Survey of 1086 

where the name is given as Cheteleuuelle, but soon after became Ketelwell (1189).  

The name is Anglian cetel wella, meaning bubbling spring or stream, whilst Wharfe is 

a Celtic name meaning the winding river.  At the Domesday Survey Kettlewell was 

part of the vast possessions of Roger de Poitou; and soon after alienated to the 

Percies.  
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Soon after the Norman conquest the township became a Manor within the 

great Percy estates of the area although Kettlewell was left outside the boundary of 

Litton Forest, and was granted to the family of de Arches which one of their 

descendants divided into two halves, and the advowson of the church which the de 

Arches had built was, at the same time, divided into two medieties or rectories. One 

half of the manor passed to the family of Gray and the other was given to Coverham 

Abbey with a moiety of the church. By the mid fourteenth century the two medieties 

of the church were recombined and replaced by a perpetual vicarage held by 

Coverham Abbey. By an early grant Coverham had pasture for 1000 sheep in the 

Kettlewell Commons and when they got half the manor they leased four bovates, 

about 40 or 50 acres, to Bolton Priory. From the Arches family Fountains Abbey was 

granted six bovates of land and pasturage for 500 wethers on Middlesmoor and Knipe 

Scar. 

 

In 1295 one half of the manor had 8 tofts, 8 bovates, a cottage and a water 

corn mill. The eight tofts were the houses of substantial farmers with about 10 acres 

of land to each; the landless peasant serfs or labourers are not mentioned. In 1379 a 

Poll Tax was levied and this lists by name all the people over 16 years of age who 

were taxed. Of these only four paid more than 4d., the tax on a labourer, they were 

two tailors, a blacksmith and a óbuyer of beastsô. In Kettlewell there were 38 married 

couples and 11 single persons to be taxed. In the Middle Ages it was a busier place 

than most of the local villages, partially due to its position at a crossroads, with 

servants and shepherds of the monastic houses, the monks of Fountains and Coverham 

and the Canons of Bolton Priory, coming and going. The market with a charter 

granted in 1320 was held each Thursday and a Fair for sheep on September 2nd and 

for cattle on October 23rd.  

 

There was a road by which the Fountains Abbey servants came from Kilnsey 

Grange to Kettlewell entering the village by the churchyard and Kettlewell bridge. 

The road to Coverham and Middleham left the north end of the village, along the Cam 

road, across Top Mere and then on a line of the present Coverdale road. Crossing 

through the village was an ancient track coming from Settle by Arncliffe to Kettlewell 

and thence via the first part of the Kettlewell Turf Road, Langliffe, Coniston Out 

Moor, Middlemoor and to the great market at Kirkby Malzeard, thus connecting two 

very important markets, Settle and Kirkby Malzeard by way of the intermediate 

Kettlewell market.  

 

Later the main London to Richmond trunk road ran through the village and 

over Park Rash. Posting inns were the Kingôs Head at Kettlewell, one of only four in 

the country named after Charles 1st, and the Horse House in Coverdale. Two miles to 

the east of the village is Tor Dyke, the enormous Brigantian ditch over a mile in 

length, banks and rocky scar crossing the Park Rash road near the cattle grid. It was 

built in 69 A.D. by the Brigantes as an outlying defence of their tribal centre at 

Stanwick against the Romans penetration into Wensleydale by way of Coverdale. It 

marked the boundary of Scale Park, an enclosure of 300 acres licensed in 1410 by 

King Henry by letters Patent to Ralph Neville Earl of Westmorland to óhold it as a 

park and fortify it with a wall of stone and mortar, and crenellate the wall and make 

battlements on itô. This medieval hunting and deer park was used amongst others by 

Charles II. 
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The manor of Kettlewell was once owned by Richard Neville, Earl of 

Warwick, known as óthe Kingmakerô. After his death at the battle of Barnet in 1471, 

the Middleham manors , of which Kettlewell was part, were granted to Richard Duke 

of Gloucester (later Richard III). They remained Crown property until Charles I in 

1628 sold it, with certain reservations, to the citizens of London. 

 

Great changes took place during the 16th century. Firstly in 1534 the 

Dissolution of the Monasteries began and Coverham Abbey estates passed into the 

hands of the Crown. A generation later the Rising of the North in defiance of the 

monarch, Elizabeth, for her treatment of English Catholics, in which the Earls of 

Westmorland, the Neville family, and the Earl of Northumberland, Lord Percy, were 

deeply involved led to the forfeiture of their estates in 1569. The Lordship of 

Middleham to which the half of Kettlewell manor was attached was forfeit to the 

Crown, and so the two halves of Kettlewell were at last united as Crown estates.  

 

When Henry VIII dissolved the monasteries in 1535 the people of west and 

north Yorkshire thought that the end of the monasteries was going to cause 

considerable distress and formed a great army under the leadership of Yorkshire 

landowner Robert Aske against the Kingôs troops sent to put them down. This became 

known as the Pilgimage of Grace. On the 16th October 1536 they marched to Salley 

Abbey and restored the Abbott and the monks, and then went on to Preston. The Duke 

of Norfolk met them and by false promises persuaded them to return home. He wrote 

to the King, ówhatever I may promise rebels I shall observe no part thereof.ô The men 

returned but ókept every man his own house ready to be up and come together at an 

hours warning.ô  

 

In 1605 the Crown ordered a survey and valuation of the Lordships of 

Middleham and Richmond. In the summary it gives for Kettlewell  ó53 tenements, 41 

houses, 81 outhouses, 578 acres 1 rood of Meadow and Arable land 370 Pasture 

gatesô. 

 

Most of the village, along with its neighbour Starbotton, was destroyed on 8th 

June 1686 by the most memorable flood on record. A Petition for a Brief from the 

King for collections to be made on behalf of the sufferers throughout England is dated 

Skipton July 1686. 

Between one and three p.m. on the 8th June last past, there happened an 

earthquake and a violent and dreadful Tempest of Thunder, haile and raine, 

which descended soe violently from the Mountaines and out of ye caverns, 

that it immediately overrun and did teare up the bancks of the rivers running 

through ye townes of Kettlewell and Starbotton in Kettlewell parish, when 100 

acres of good land was washed away, and 100 acres covered with stones and 

gravel, the auncient streams were diverted, and sevrall bridges were driven 

downe and overwhelmed, and many houses destroyed. Total losse £3017 11s 

8d. 

 

In 1628 the King, Charles 1, being pressed for money, granted the manor by 

Letters Patent to four citizens of London, who in 1656 sold it to Matthew Hewitt of 

Linton, and William Fawcett, Thomas Ripley, John Bolland, Thomas Coates, James 

Bolland, John Ibbotson and Edmund Tennant all of Kettlewell. This group, acting as 

trustees, ódischarged their trustô by completing the sale of the various properties in 
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Kettlewell to the tenants and by taking on the management of the manor, but retained 

the whole of the manorial dues, fishing and hunting, mines, courts and all kinds of 

perquisites of the manor to be held in trust for ever for the freeholders of Kettlewell. 

At later dates as trustees died off new ones were appointed. In 1883 a new trust deed 

was drawn up and the whole procedure put on a proper record ómore especially to fix 

and establish for the future the trust and guardianship of the manor and lordship of 

Kettlewell to and for such use and uses as were at the same time of purchasing the 

same intended for the real owners and proprietors.ô óAll and every person then or at 

any time thereafter holding any messuage land,etc. within the manorô who pays a 

proportion towards the ancient rent of £17-13-7 óshould have annually from the date 

thereof in proportion to his or her share of such rent, the rents issues and profits of the 

said manor.ô Thus were created the Trust Lords of Kettlewell who still look after the 

affairs of the manor. 

 

An asset which received early attention was the presence within the manor of 

veins of lead ore which was mined from pre-Roman times until the early 20th century. 

During Anglo-Saxon and monastic times lead continued to be mined although on a 

small scale until the rise of the Elizabethan merchant class meant that capital and 

management were available for the exploitation of both land and people.  The first 

record of the Kettlewell mines is given in the 1605 survey of the Honour of 

Middleham, of which Kettlewell was then a part, which noted that they were of little 

value. At the sale of 1656 the assets passed to the Trust Lords and in September 1663 

the mines were leased to Francis Smithson of Richmond, Merchant. Smithson 

surrendered the lease in 1669 and in partnership with Philip Swale, Yeoman, of 

Hartforth, renewed it for 21 years. This new lease included the óSmelting Mylne near 

Kettlewell with the wheel bellows hearth and kyln holes for drying chopwood éô for 

a rent of £17-13-7 which was in fact the whole of the ancient rent of the manor, to be 

paid in equal parts at Michaelmas and Lady Day each year.1 By the 18th and 19th 

centuries lead mining was well established in the Dales. The first impression of the 

importance of mining in the area is given by the Craven Muster Roll of 1803, which 

lists all males, aged between 15 and 55, who were willing to bear arms in the event of 

an invasion by the French.2 The population of Kettlewell in the 1801 census was 634, 

so the Muster Roll, with its 121 men, is an incomplete sample of the male population. 

Nevertheless, as it also lists occupations, it does give a clue as to the relative 

importance of the various groups; Agriculture 36.4, Mining 27.3, Services 19.8, 

Textiles 9.9, Trades 6.6. Agriculture includes 22 men described as labourers, whilst 

mining includes 6 coal miners and 27 lead miners. By 1881, however there were only 

13 miners in Kettlewell out of a total population of 378.  

 

The richest mine in the liberty of the Trust Lords of Kettlewell was Providence 

in the area of Dowbers Gill. Whilst the mine worked numerous veins the principal 

workings were the Hooksbank vein on the North side of the gill and Old Providence 

vein on the south both no more than some 500 metres from Hag Dyke. Nothing is 

known of the mineôs history until July 1846 when a partnership was formed to work 

the mine. In July they floated the Old Providence Lead and Coal Field Company Ltd 

with 315 shares. Things did not go well and the company was wound up on April 16th 

1860. The plant and all rights held under the Trust Lords were sold and the mine 

continued working as the Providence Mining Company. During the 1860s the mine 

appears to have been worked with some vigour as the production figures show a 

marked rise from 11.7 tons of ore in 1862 to a peak of 325.2 tons in 1867. Some 800 
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tons of ore were produced during the decade. From this point on production gradually 

fell off, in 1870 only 72.5 tons were raised and the mine closed down sometime after 

1874 when in that year only 4.7 tons of ore was mined. Due to rising costs and cheap 

foreign lead in the late 1800s the market collapsed and by the early years of the 20th 

century all mines in the area had closed. The smelt mill, which had worked 

continuously from before 1669 closed in 1887, but was kept in good condition until 

1942 when it was blown up by the army testing a new type of explosive. The 

chimney, however, was blown down in a gale in February 1893. 

 

It may be that Hag Dyke housed some of the workers from the lead mines at 

Dowbers Gill around 1700 but no evidence to this effect has been found.    

 

When roaming the hills one often comes across signs of mining, long rows of 

holes where someone has followed a mineral vein, or deserted buildings. The lead 

mine buildings near Hag Dyke were finally demolished in R.A.F. bombing exercises 

during the 1939-45 war. A specific type of hill practice target was required and these 

ruins filled the need.3  

 

In 1838 Kettlewell boasted a cotton mill, three blacksmiths, two joiners, five 

inns, two shoemakers, a surgeon and a tailor. Opposite todayôs village store stood the 

corn mill which, in the early part of the 19th century was turned into a cotton mill, but 

was demolished in 1876. Remains of the mill dam are still visible. 

 

Towards the end of the nineteenth century Kettlewell began to be 

ódiscoveredô. Soon after the opening of the railway from Leeds to Skipton, a line was 

proposed in 1846, to come up the dale from Skipton via Kettlewell and a tunnel under 

the Stake to join the Northallerton line to Newcastle. This was never carried out but 

after numerous other attempts a line was eventually opened up the dale as far as 

Grassington. 

 

Annually, since 1998, Kettlewell has held a Scarecrow Festival on behalf of 

St. Maryôs Church, the Village Hall and the School. Kettlewell gained fame, if not 

notoriety, when becoming the set for the filming of Calendar Girls, although the 

original ógirlsô hailed from Rylstone, nine miles to the south.  

 

 

   The Trust Lords of Kettlewell 
 

 The creation of the Trust Lords in 1656 effectually changed the status of 

Kettlewell from that of a dependant semi-mediaeval manor to that of an independent 

largely self governing community exercising all the functions and powers of Lords of 

the Manor holding the lordship in trust for the whole body of freeholders. These Trust 

Lords, or Wise Men, are a feature of village government in this part of the Pennines 

appointed by election of all the freeholders. It is they to whom the royalties from 

mines and quarries are paid; they who regulate the use of the common pastures and at 

an annual meeting decide upon the óstintô, the number of grazing animals to be 

allowed on the pastures each year, and who appoint a gamekeeper, shepherd, 

barmaster and hold courts Leet and Baron. The Trustees also regulate the cutting of 

peat, a right of óturbaryô, the right to cut bedding, usually bracken, for their cattle 

sheds and the duty of freeholders to assist in draining and improving the moors.  
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When the number of feoffees was reduced to three, the freeholders would 

summon a meeting whereby no fewer than seven and no more than nine new feoffees 

should be elected by the freeholders within the manor. An indenture of 1805 

contained the rule that any feoffee who sold all his property in Kettlewell should retire 

and be released from all his responsibilities. 

 

In the early 1950s the trustees became concerned that their liabilities as 

owners of minerals and their responsibilities for the old mineral workings could be 

more onerous than beneficial. A legal opinion of 1953 advised the Trust Lords to 

maintain full insurance cover against all liability for injury to persons or damage to 

property occasioned by any fall of earth. It also recommended that they should erect 

warning signs at the side of the highway at the limit to their lands, stating that 

dangerous falls were liable to occur from cliff faces. The presence of mine shafts also 

constituted a danger and the public were warned of these by a notice warning that 

disused mine shafts óshould not be approached as they may prove dangerousô. 

 

According to John Henderson, son of William Becket Henderson (whom we 

will meet in more detail later) one of the Trust Lords at the time, at Williamôs 

instigation two companies were formed, limited by guarantee, Kettlewell Overlords 

Ltd and Kettlewell Manor Ltd., which could go into liquidation should they be faced 

with any claim which could not be met by the assets of the trust. 

 

When Henry Plews was appointed Barmaster in 1974 his salary was £25. He 

was to collect the rents of Knipe Wood, Smelt Mill Close and Race Horses Croft, to 

ókeep an eyeô that the tenants were fulfilling their obligations to farm properly and 

maintain necessary walls, fences etc. to look out for uncovered mineshafts, and deal 

with them by filling or covering, spending no more than £15 a year without express 

authority, and to check on the state of warning notices on the moor, and renew them 

as necessary. 

 

In 2006 ótwo trunk loadsô of Trust Lord documents were lodged with the 

North Yorkshire Records Office. These have been catalogued and microfilmed and 

are available under reference ZKK. Further details of the history of the Trust Lords of 

the Manor can be found in chapter 3 of Arthur Raistrickôs book Old Yorkshire Dales .  
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Part 2 
 

Hag Dyke prior to 1947 

 
 

Hag Dyke, now in North Yorkshire, is believed to have been the highest 

inhabited house at 1525 feet in the West Riding. Its occupants have been traced back 

to 1730, but it is possibly older and could have housed the miners working in Dowber 

Ghyll lead mines opened in 1680. Hag Dyke has had various spellings of its name 

over the years, particularly in the Parish Records as we shall see later, but also on 

Ordnance Survey maps. The late Arthur Raistrick, a local historian, confirmed that 

Hag Dyke is the correct spelling. óHagô means enclosed land or cultivated intake 

(from the moor in this case), whilst óDykeô is the boundary ditch, mound or wall. The 

name therefore means the boundary of the enclosed land. 

 

The First Edition Ordnance Survey map 1852, 6ò to 1 mile names the property 

Hay Dike and the Outdoor Leisure No 30 Yorkshire Dales map 1:25000 Hag Dike 

whilst Hay Tongue, the neighbouring farm, is missing the óuô. In Boggôs book Two 

Thousand Miles in Wharfedale (1906) the property is spelt Haggdiqque. 

 

In her book Map of a Nation ï A Biography of the Ordnance Survey Rachel 

Hewitt tells how óEarly in the mapping season [spring and summer] of 1808 William 

Mudge and Thomas Colby found themselves in Kettlewell pursuing triangles across 

Staffordshire, Cheshire, Lancashire, Derbyshire and West and North Yorkshireô. 

In June 1791 Charles Lennox, 3rd Duke of Richmond and Master General of the Board 

of Ordnance secured the consent of the King óto proceed with the Trigonometrical 

Operation begun by the late Major General Royô. A month later he appointed Lieut. 

Mudge of the Royal Regiment of Artillery to carry on the work of the Trigonometrical 

Survey. Thus the Ordnance Survey as we know it today was born. At the turn of the 

century Mudge appointed Thomas Colby to join the Ordnance Survey. Whilst Mudge 

managed the Trigonometrical Survey, Colby oversaw the progress of the Interior 

Surveying parties composed of civilian map makers who were charged with 

systematically fleshing out the triangulation and preparing detailed maps of the 

landscape. 

 

Hewitt imagines that óFrom their base in Kettlewell, Mudge, Colby and a 

small team of artillerymen made their way on foot out of the village. At first they 

followed the track that led them to a farm called Hay Tongue; then, on a rougher path, 

to Hag Dyke cottage and barn; finally, they picked their way carefully through the 

tussocky ground that led steeply up a small mountain called Great Whernside. After 

hauling themselves to the summit of the 2310 foot peak, Mudge recollected how the 

surveyors found óa great number of huge rocks, scattered about in all directionsô. 

From this haphazard miscellany of stone, he chose one stone flatter than the others, as 

a base for his theodoliteô. 

 

She concludes with a note; óNevertheless, Hag Dyke cottage was built before 

1730 and still survives as a Scout Hostel. It provides a constant in the landscape 

between the Ordnance Surveyorôs experience and the present day walkersô. 

 



 12 

The Original Building  
 

The building of stone farmhouses began in about 1600, replacing wattle and 

daub and thatch. Most farm buildings in Upper Wharfedale date from that period. 

Another feature are the scattered field barns which were an integral part of  the pattern 

of subsistence farming that occurred throughout the Dales. Dry stone walls date from 

the 16th or early 17th centuries, the walls enclosing irregularly shaped fields. The main 

enclosure period came in the late 18th and early 19th centuries and is evidenced by 

straighter, more geometrically shaped fields. The old farmhouse of Hag Dyke is set in 

a hollow of the fell on Great Whernside facing west on the edge of the limestone 

escarpment and below the first gritstone capping of the Pennines. A quite unique 

situation with the village of Kettlewell set in the valley below and just visible from the 

upper floor of Hag Dyke one and a half miles away and some 750 feet lower. 

 

The late Dr Arthur Raistrick assured earlier Scout Group researchers that the 

south-east part of the original building and the barn were the first parts to be built, 

about the middle of the seventeenth century, on the site of an older settlement. He 

stated that the old fields of Aynams, Hay Tingue, and Little Fell Pasture and 

Hookbank are all mentioned in the sixteenth century deeds, and were enclosed soon 

after. Hag Dyke, he said, was established at the time of the enclosure of Kettlewell 

Moor which includes Whernside Pasture and Hag Dyke Pasture. The fields were 

subdivided at various times up to 1800 and Scabbergate, the track up to Hay Tongue 

and Hag Dyke is mentioned earlier. Dr Raistrick believed Hag Dyke to be part of the 

enclosure of Little Fell Pasture.  

 

 It is unclear whether Hag Dyke ever had any direct connection with the lead 

mining activities in the area, although it is quite possible that miners may have lodged 

there from time to time. The names of Hag Dyke owners and occupiers, Robinson, 

Ibbotson, Calvert, Sunter, Wiseman etc. all appear in mining records but as they are 

common in the area no specific link can be assumed. 

 

 The south east corner of Hag Dyke, where the kitchen is now, is constructed 

on a large projecting stone typical of early buildings of the time. As the fabric and 

structure of farmhouses in the parish of Kettlewell is currently being studied by the 

Upper Wharfedale Heritage Group who visited Hag Dyke during the late summer of 

2012 their conclusions are awaited with interest. 

 

 

The Owners and Occupants of Hag Dyke   

 
In this section, in order to distinguish between the two, references to the 

ownership of Hag Dyke are in ordinary type whilst references to the occupiers are in 

italics. The details of the occupants have been culled from Kettlewell Parish Church 

Registers which provide the earliest records the present writer has identified to date. 

Unfortunately the early church records, begun in 1688 are incomplete and few 

addresses are given except for those living in distant parts. Here we are fortunate as 

Hag Dyke, and its variant spellings feature, although many entries which may be 

relevant to the Hag Dyke families appear as óKettlewellô residents and are hence not 

shown as being óof Hag Dykeô. Other records have been taken from the International 

Genealogical Index (IGI). The North Yorkshire Record Office and the Yorkshire 
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Archeological Society hold papers relating to the Bolland family. The Register of 

Deeds at Wakefield has enabled searches to be made to identify ownership of the 

property. The deeds held are not originals but summaries or ómemorialsô and give the 

date of the deed, the names and addresses of the parties and a brief description of the 

property. Census Records have provided some detail of the families of both owners 

and occupiers. As far as practical the material is in chronological order. 

 

A search of the archives held at the North Yorkshire Record Office, 

Northallerton for material relating to Kettlewell resulted in locating family papers 

relating to Dawson of Langliffe and Bolland of Kettlewell. From the papers of the 

Bolland family4  we learn; John Bolland the elder of Kilnhill near Kettlewell, 

yeoman, by his Will dated 29 May 1740 gave to his son Christopher Bolland; 
óé.close in the Eastfield called Wallworth Land, with such part of that close 

[an enclosed area of land] called Hagdike or Hooksbank as belonged to 

himé.ô 

So at that time the Bolland family had an interest in at least part of the property or 

land known as Hagdike. 

 

The Bollands, who were minor landowners, were not restricted to Kettlewell, 

although many had Kettlewell connections. Many moved from the immediate area 

and are to be found connected with Leeds, Settle, Skipton, Giggleswick, Masham and 

further afield. Amongst the Bolland papers is a genealogical chart apparently 

compiled by óR. M. R.ô which carries a note óSince there were Bollands in Kettlewell 

in 1379 there may have been many branches of the family in later days distantly 

related. But there is evidence of a fairly close relationship between the three branches 

here mentioned ï the Fawcett-Bollands, the Bollands of Kiln Hill, and the Bollands of 

Masham. The Kiln Hill Bollands (later of Townhead, Settle and Leeds) write to 

Fawcett Bolland (died 1804) as ócousinô, and Henry Bolland of Masham was trustee 

of Fawcett Bollandôs children.ô 

 

In addition to the Kilnhill Bollands there was another large family, that of 

John Bolland of Damside in Kettlewell. It is likely that the two families originate from 

the same root but no confirmation of that has been found.   

 

The Kettlewell Parish Registers contain a few scattered entries 1699-1704 but 

the original volumes only begin in 1705 when the Rev. Henry Birch became Vicar. 

He notes that the earlier volume was lost by his predecessor the Rev Henry Motley. 

The Registers detail 66 entries, mostly for baptisms but with a few burials and only 

three marriages, with the surname Bolland during the 60 years 1700-1760. The 

earliest Bolland record being the baptism of Ann Daughter of John (jnr.) 26 December 

1699. This is the John and his son Christopher, brother of Ann, referred to above. 

Bolland is the third most common name after Calvert and Ibbotson and their variant 

spellings. Of the Calverts 2/3rd hailed from Starbotton. Of those with the Bolland 

surname 6 were baptised John, 4 Christopher, 4 William, and two each Thomas, 

Joseph, Benjamin, and Richard. During the same period 3 Johns, 2 Christophers, 4 

Williams and 2 Benjamins were buried. This repetition of names makes the tracing of 

family lineage difficult. The earliest Bolland traced to date with an interest in Hag 

Dyke is the John Bolland whose will is mentioned above and who gave his son 

Christopher ópart of that close called Hagdikeô. This John is believed to have been 

born around 1670 and was buried at Kettlewell 3 July 1740. His son Christopher was 
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baptised 13 December 1702 and died between 1774 and 1776. Five other sons were 

born in the first decade of the 18th century. From 1763 when Johnôs son William 

(1707-1785), the brother of Christopher, moved to Settle many family baptisms and 

burials took place at Giggleswick. 

 

The 1841 census details only eight Bollands living in Kettlewell whose ages 

range from 13 to 65. The 1851 census lists no Bollands in Kettlewell. 

 

Two Bollands, John and James, were named along with six others all of 

Kettlewell when in 1656, and following the sale of the Manor of Kettlewell by the 

Crown to London Merchants, it was conveyed to the eight Kettlewell Trustees. 

Similarly a John Bolland senior and a John Bolland were named amongst eight, all of 

whom were Trust Lords of the Manor of Kettlewell, in a detailed lease made in 1734 

of the lead mines and smelt mill at Kettlewell. 

 

It is suggested, although no evidence has been identified, that the Great 

Grandfather of John Bolland the elder of Kilnhill was the John Bolland named in 

1656 as one of the first Kettlewell Trustees.5  

 

Returning now to the Will of John Bolland we read; 

óJohn Bolland, the elder, of Kilnhill in Kettlewell, Yeoman by his Will dated 

29 May 1740 gave to his son Christopher Bolland a close [an enclosed area of 

land] called West Close, then in three divisions, with a barn thereto belonging; 

4 parcels of land in the open Westfield; close called Little Ing; close in the 

open Eastfield called Long Roods; close adjoining to the head thereof called 

Against Bank; close in the Eastfield called Wallworth Land, with such part of 

that close called Hagdike or Hooksbank as belonged to him; the Little Dale on 

the outside thereof; a moiety of a close called West Scar; 6 beastgates on Cam 

Pasture; 36 sheepgates on Middlesmoor; 40 sheepgates on Langliff with the 

ground and soil on the said gates belonging éô6 

 

The entry for Johnôs son Christopher in a genealogical chart in the archives of 

Yorkshire Archeological Society7  is annotated óIn 1757 Officer of Excise, Leeds. By 

his fatherôs Will was left most of his fatherôs estate, but sold most of them to Wm B in 

1757ô. The Register of Deeds includes a Memorial of Indenture of Leave and Release 

registered 22 January 1760 which appears to refer; 

 

óA Memorial of Indenture of Lease and Release [the normal method of 

conveying land until 1841] bearing date respectively the fourth and fifth days 

of April in the year of our Lord 1757 the leave made between Christopher 

Bolland of Leeds in the County of York Officer of Excise of the one part and 

John Bolland the younger of Kettlewell in the County of York Gentleman of 

the other part and the release of three parts made between the said Christopher 

Bolland and Mary his wife of the first part William Bolland of Settle in the 

County of York woolstapler of the second part and the said John Bolland of 

the third part and concerning é also all that estate of him the said Christopher 

Bolland and in and to that é close called hagdike é all which said premises 

are situate and being in Kettlewell.8   
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This óWm Bô is Christopherôs brother William (1707 ï 1785) whose entry is 

annotated óapprenticed 1718 [to Lawrence Dent of Kettlewell, fellmonger and glover] 

and became prosperous woolstapler. Bought Townhead [Settle, now a Health Centre] 

1763 and much other property in Settle and Kettlewell. Made his Will 24 January 

1784ô. This will unfortunately does nothing to identify the owners of Hag Dyke 

between 1785 and around the end of the century. William willed óAll my Household 

Goods Plate Household Furniture Cattle stock in Trade Money and securities ï money 

and all the rest and residue of my personal estate And also all my Freehold Messuages 

Cottages Buildings Lands Tenements Hereditaments Premises and Real estate situate 

standing lying and being at Settle aforesaid or within the Township Liberties Precincts 

or territories thereof And all my Freehold and Leasehold Messuages Cottages 

Buildings Lands Tenements Cattle Gates Hereditaments and Premises situate and 

being at Kettlewell in the said County of York or within the Township Precincts or 

Territories thereof And all other my Real and Personal Estate whatsoever I give 

devise and bequeath unto William Clapham of Stackhouse [an Agnes Clapham 

daughter of Thomas married his son William 1747-1774] within the said Parish of 

Giggleswick Fawcet Bolland of Kettlewell [his nephew, son of his brother John] 

aforesaid and Thomas Bolland of Leeds [his brother, son of Christopher 1702-1774/6] 

Gentleman é é [those just named their survivors heirs and executors] shall and will 

permit and suffer my brother Joseph Bolland now of Kettlewell aforesaid to have hold 

use occupy  posess and enjoy the Dwelling House and other premises within the 

appurtenances he now holds and enjoys under me in Kettlewell aforesaid for and 

during the Term of his natural life é éô9  

 

It seems likely that Joseph occupied a property in Kettlewell village and that 

the reference in the Will to Williams property being occupied by Joseph was not a 

reference to Hag Dyke. 

 

The above Williamôs grandson, another William (1772 ï 1839 son of 

Anthony) purchased much land in Kettlewell including several farms from the 

Trustees of the Rev William Norton and in 1803 bought both moidities of the 

advowson of Kettlewell which had been divided by sale in the mid-seventeenth 

century between William Fawcett of Kettlewell and the Currers of Skipton, the 

patrons having the right of presentation in turn. The Fawcett share eventually passed 

to Fawcett Bolland, Williamôs cousin once removed, and the Currer share to William 

Butterfield Colton of Lancaster, in trust for Tenant Bolland of Kettlewell, clerk and 

Leonard Robinson of West Scale Park, Kettlewell, yeoman. In effect an advowson 

was the right to nominate a person to be the parish priest (subject to Episcopal 

approval). Such right was often held by the lord of the manor. An advowson was 

regarded as real property and could be bought, sold or bequeathed. The Title Deeds to 

the land purchases are archived at Northallerton. Hay Tongue and surrounding land 

feature but there is no mention of Hag Dyke which may have passed out of the hands 

of the Bollands although, again from the Bolland papers, there is a  Deed of Exchange 

25 October 177610  from William Bolland to Susanna Dixon of Chatburn co Lancaster 

widow and the Rev Richard Dawson of Botton, Yorks, clerk, only son and heir of 

Susanna Dixon and vice versa of; 

óTwo pieces of land at Haytongue in Kettlewell in a close of land called 

Swinyards otherwise Nortonôs Swinyards adjoining lands of William Bolland 

and now or late in possession of George Metcalfô 
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and óPiece of land in a field in Kettlewell called Hooksbank now ipo [in the 

possession of?] John Bolland éô 25 October 1776 

 

Richard Dawson, above, 1744-1826 was the brother of Elizabeth Dawson, 

daughter in law of William 1707-1784 who married his son Anthony. Anthony died in 

1777 and hence predeceased his father. Williamôs property hence passed directly to 

his grandson William 1772-1839. Susannah Dixon was the mother of Richard. His 

father was Josias Dawson 1710-1748 and after his death Susannah later married 

Abraham Dixon. 

 

William 1772-1839 was only five when his father, Anthony, died and was sent 

to school at Hipperholme near Halifax. Later there was the possibility of him being 

apprenticed as clerk to Thomas Bolland, solicitor of Leeds and a relative but in 1790 

he entered into articles of clerkship with John Hardy, attorney at law of Horton, 

Bradford. He was admitted to the middle Temple in 1796. On his death Williamôs 

property was left in trust for his four surviving daughters and in 1902 his 

granddaughters by Jane Perfect bought the shares of the advowson then belonging to 

their cousins. 
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Turning now to the occupants of Hag Dyke the earliest family identified to 

date from the Kettlewell Parish Registers is that of 

Jeoffrey Parker 
7 August 1732 Baptism of Jennet ye daughter of Jeoffrey Parker Labourer of 

Hag Dike. 

The parish church records also include the following details which appear to 

relate to the Parker family; 

James  Bapt. Son of Jeophrey, Labourer 11 Feb 1716-17 

Robert Bapt. Son of Jeophrey, Yeoman 25 Sept 1720 

William Bapt. Son of Jeffra, Labourer of Kettlewell 12 May 1728 

John Buried, Son of Geoffrey of Kettlewell 17 December 1728 

Mary  Buried, Wife of Jeoffrey, Labourer of Kettlewell 16 April 1742 

The International Geneological Index records Jeffrey Parker marrying Mary 

Calvert at Linton 10 April 1716. 

 

As with all the occupants the precise dates of their arrival at and departure 

from Hag Dyke are not known. 

 

William Thompson    
10 June 1739 Baptism of Henry son of William Thompson Labourer of Hag 

Dycke. 

The I.G.I. records William Thompson marrying Agnes Ibbotson at Arncliffe 17 

July 1732.  

Parish records include; 

Sarah Bapt. Dau of William, Labourer of Kettlewell 3 March 1744/5 and 

Agnes Buried, Wife of William, of Kettlewell 8 July 1759. 

 

The Registers detail on ó4 December 1743  Baptism of Margaret ye bastard 

child of Margaret Lawson, Hag Dique Motherô. 

and then, 

Thomas Tattersall 
8th October 1744 Marriage of T Tattersall, yeoman and Margaret Lawson, 

spinster, Both of Hag Dique. 

 

Whilst this history was being compiled Lynne Corcoran of Hoghton, Preston 

made contact explaining that Thomas Tattersall was her Fifth Great 

Grandfather, she later forwarded genealogical information relating to the 

family. During the course of their marriage Thomas and Margaret produced 

seven further children. 

 

5 January 1745/6 Baptism of James, son of Thomas Tattersall of Hagdique, 

yeoman. 

 

So, Margaret Lawson, after having an illegitimate child presumably by 

Thomas Tattersall,(Lynne accepts this union) married him and three months 

later had a second child, James, and then at least six more.  

 

The other six children of Thomas Tattersall were; 

6 July 1747 Ann, Bapt. Dau of Thomas, Yeoman of Hag Dique married John 

Forrester 9 February 1771 at Kettlewell and had seven children together. 
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1 Jan 1748/9 Francis, Bapt. Dau of Thomas, Yeoman of Hag Dique  

3 Feb 1750/1 Thomas, Bapt. Son of Thomas of Hag Dique 

25 Feb 1753 Roger, Bapt. Son of Thomas, Yeoman of Hag Dique  

8 Aug 1756 George, Bapt. Son of Thomas, Yeoman of Hag Dique. Georege 

married Elizabeth Parcival of Kettlewell by banns 11 February 1781. 

Elizabeth was mother to eight children four of whom died within four years of 

their birth. It is suggested that George and Elizabeth moved to the 

Hebden/Linton area. 

18 July 1759 Modland, Bapt. Dau of Thomas and Margaret of Hag Dike. 

Modland (Maudland/Magdalene) was named after her grandmother who also 

lived at Hag Dyke and who was buried at Kettlewell the previous year on 27 

September 1758. Modland married James Ellison at Clapham in 1784. They 

had six children together and both are buried at Clapham. 

 

Modland had a sister Frances also living at Hag Dyke and she too had an 

illegitimate child, George.  Whilst there is no birth/baptism record at 

Kettlewell there is a burial record for 23 November 1753 ïóLawson George, 

Buried, Son of Frances, Spinster of Hag Dique, Motherô. 

 

One register entry refers to the baptism of a son of Francis Stockdale óof 
the Hagdikeô.  

24 April 1777 Francis Bapt. Son of Francis and Margaret Stockdale of the 

Hagdike. 

 

There are seven other Stockdale baptisms and five burials, including that of 

Margaret the wife of Francis, between 1766 and 1790 but none refer 

specifically to Hag Dyke. 

 

Three other Register entries relate to possible Hag Dyke occupants but 

additional information has been found relating to only one of them or their 

families. 

 

3rd June 1788 Burial at Kettlewell of Ann Chapman from Hagdike and 

 

19 October1788 Baptism of Elin, daughter of John Hill , Hagdike. The Land 

Tax returns detailed below show that John Hill occupied Hag Dyke between 

1781 and 1797 so one wonders whether Ann Chapman and John Hill were 

related as both were at Hag Dyke in 1788. As the Registers detail a marriage 

of a John Hill of Hay Tongue and Elizabeth Brown 13 January 1816 it may be 

that John moved from Hag Dyke to Hay Tongue prior to his marriage. 

 

9th July 1798 Burial of Agnes Windsor from Hagdike. 

Similarly at Kettlewell there is a record for Richard, son of William and Agnes 

Windsor who was baptised 9 September 1794 and buried on the following day, 

although there is no specific mention of Hag Dyke in the church register entry. 

Almost two years later a baptism is recorded of John, son of William Windsor 

of Starbotton and Agnes Taylor 13 March 1796. If this is the same family 

perhaps the family moved to Hag Dyke shortly before the death of Agnes. 
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From 1785 when William Bolland died it is unclear who became the owners of 

Hag Dyke. An Enclosure Map 1802 of Kettlewell by Alex Calvert of Richmond 

showing the Open Fields and Stinted Pastures11  names the owners of each parcel of 

land. Hagg dike is shown in the top right hand corner and can be easily missed. On the 

map a track is seen leading up to Hag Dyke roughly in the same position as the 

present track; this is an occupation road and was not kept by the parish as was the 

Whernside Turf Road leading up to the moor on the other side of the ravine. The 

ownership of Hag Dyke and the surrounding fields to the south and east are given no 

landlord, but those on the west are appointed to the Executors of John Pickersgill and 

land adjoining belongs to William Bolland. The Enclosue award only refers to ten 

sheepgates and pastures in relation to the executors of John Pickersgill with no 

reference being made to Hag Dyke. It has been suggested that Hag Dyke was still 

copyhold land in 1802/3 and part of the Manor of Kettlewell but how that position 

relates to the apparent earlier ownership of the property by the Bollands is unclear. A 

number of entries in the Register of Deeds for the Bolland family in Kettlewell 

indicate that parts of the Manor of Kettlewell were being released from copyhold to 

freehold at the end of the 18th/early 19th century. 

 

On each of the  Land Tax returns for the period 1781-1832 a Mr Pickersgill is 

shown as owning property (not necessarily Hag Dyke) and during that period had 3 

tenants; John Hill is mentioned above and the other two below; 

  John Hill      1781-1797 

  Henry Wiseman 1798-1827 

  George Wellock 1828-1832  

 

The Kettlewell Parish Registers detail another family, the Ibbotsons, where at 

the time the third daughter, Elizabeth, was baptised on the 12 October 1806 

the family was óof Hagdikeô. The International Genealogical Index details the 

marriage of George Ibbotson and Mary Wrathall 20 February1798 at 

Arncliffe. 

 

19 July 1801 Bapt. of Mary daughter of George Ibbotson and Mary Wrathall 

29 March 1804 Bapt. of Ann 2nd daughter of George Ibbotson and Mary 

Wrathall 

12 October 1806 Bapt. of Elizabeth 3rd daughter of George Ibbotson and Mary 

Wrathall of Hagdike 

 

Next the family of Henry Wiseman were the occupants;  

8 November 1818 Bapt. of Thomas and Isabella twins of Henry, a miner, and 

Alice Wiseman of Hagdyke. 

9 September 1821 Bapt. of Eleanor Daughter of Henry, a farmer, and Alice 

Wiseman of Hagdyke. Eleanor óof Hagdikeô was buried at Kettlewell 23 June 

1822. 

There are also  possible further children of this family, Ann was baptised 31 

December 1826 and the baptism of a John Wiseman which took place at 

Kettlewell 15 December 1830 the son of Alice described as a widow, so if this 

entry refers to the Hag Dyke family Henry must have died. No burial record 

has been found for him at Kettlewell. 
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In 1849 a Thomas Wiseman was appointed Barmaster of the Trust Lords at a 

salary of £3. This Thomas may be the Thomas baptised in 1818.  

 

George Wallock12  was born 1796 at Linton, he married firstly Elizabeth, 

some ten years younger and secondly Amelia. 

George died 24 April 1864 at Kettlewell. He and Elizabeth had four children. 

3 April 1825 Baptism of John, son of George and Elizabeth Wallock, Hagdyke, 

Farmer.  Tom Wellock, a descendant, states that it is this John (see below) 

who married Eliza Wilson and died at Skipton 18 December 1901. 

16 March 1828 Bapt. of John, son of George and Elizabeth Wallock, Hagdyke, 

Farmer 

These entries are puzzling. Perhaps the first John died, but there is no burial 

record for him at Kettlewell. Did his parents forget that he had been baptised 

once or did they name two children John? Enquiries of Tom living in 

Lancashire have failed to elicit a response. 

8 August 1830 Bapt.  of Margaret daughter of George and Elizabeth Wallock, 

Hagdyke, Farmer. Margaret married a John Carr 8 September 1852 at 

Arncliffe, had four children and died at Arncliffe 28 March 1908. 

16 February 1834 Bapt. of George, son of George and Elizabeth Wellock of 

Hagdyke, farmer. The 1881 census details George, his wife Jane and son 

George, living at 3 Wilson Street, Leeds, George senior being a Milk Dealer. 

Note that here the family surname changes from Wallock to Wellock 

  

George (very senior of Linton!) married a second time to Amelia Calvert at 

Bingley Parish Church 6 May 1845.13  At the time of the marriage George was 

living at Burnsall and Amelia at Bingley. Both their fathers were Farmers. At 

the time of the 1851 census George was at Kettlewell, but not at Hag Dyke 

which was then occupied by Ralph Sunter, carrying on the trade of Carrier but 

ten years later he was described as a Farmer. He died at Kettlewell 24 April 

1864. 

In 1871 Amelia (Willock in Ancestry!) was a widow acting as Housekeeper at 

Threshfield to her brother John Calvert aged 73, a widower and retired 

farmer born at Kettlewell. 

 

In the archives of the  Yorkshire Archaeological Society at Leeds is a plan14  

showing the inclosures of Coniston and Kilnsey township with field names and 

acreage together with a larger scale plan of Coniston Moor óby George 

Wellock of Kettlewellô dated 1849. 

 

Maureen and Tom Wellock visited Hag Dyke in the early 2000s. and told that 

Tomôs great great great grandparents once lived at Hag Dyke where they 

brought up their family.  

 

Ralph Sunter appears to have been one of the longest occupiers of Hag 

Dyke being there from the mid 1830s for around 20 years. 

On 15 May 1831 Banns were read at Kettlewell Church for the marriage of 

Ralph Sunter of Horsehouse, Coverdale and Margaret Walker of Kettlewell. 

The marriage took place at Kettlewell on 4 June 1831. Thomas Walker, the 

first born son of Ralph and Margaret was baptised at Kettlewell 14 March 

1832 when Ralph was described as a Labourer of Kettlewell. By 28 August 
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1836 when Dorothy was baptised Ralph was a Farmer at Hagdyke. Three 

other children followed; John bpt. 26 February 1843, Elizabeth bpt. 2 June 

1845 and Joseph bpt.5 October 1847. 

 

When a Survey and Valuation was carried out of the Townships of Kettlewell and 

Starbotton in 1836 the Proprietor of Hag Dyke was named as a Mr Pickersgill  with 

Ralph Sunter as the occupier. 

      A  R  P    £   s    d    

 Farr Field    6  1   2     4  13  11 

 Field back of new barn  2  3   3     1   3    6 

 Near Field    5  -  13     5   1    7 

 Cow Pasture    6  2  16     3   6    0 

Wood in Cow Pasture   3  2  22         18   2 

 House Barn Field Calf Garth                 3  12     2    0   0 

 11 Sheep Gaites on Whernside            ______        16  2 

      25-1-16   17-19- 4 

 

Census 1841 Hag Dyke 

 

 Ralph Sunter  35 Farmer 

 Margaret  30 

 Thomas  9 

 Dorothy  4 

 Ralph   1 

 Thomas Walker 65 Ind. 

 

Living in Kettlewell in 1841 were John and Ann Sunter aged 69 and 76 respectively. 

John was a Lead Miner. It may be that they were the parents of Ralph. It is likely that 

John died before the next census in 1851 as only Ann is detailed aged 85, a Landed 

proprietor, born at Kettlewell. Today there is a property in Kettlewell called Sunterôs 

Garth. 

 

Census 1851 Hag Dyke 

 

 Ralph Sunter  Head M 47 Farmer Kettlewell 

 Margaret  Wife M 41   Wooddale 

 Thomas  Son U 19   Kettlewell 

 Dorothy  Dau  14   Hag Dyke 

 Ralph   Son  10   Hag Dyke 

 John   Son  8   Hag Dyke 

 Elizabeth  Dau  5   Hag Dyke 

 Joseph   Son  3   Hag Dyke 

 Thomas Walker F in L W 80 Farm Servant Wooddale 

  

At the time of the 1861 census Ralph Sunter and his family were living at 

Stone House, Kirkthwaite, Dent farming 180 acres. His son, Thomas had 

apparently left the family home and his daughter Dorothy had married (John 

Allen in June 1858?) but was living ï or perhaps visiting -  at Stone House 

with her parents and her twin daughters aged 7 months born at Bolton Castle, 

Yorkshire. In 1871 Ralph was still at Dent farming 200 acres but died 1 July 
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1872 aged 68.15 His Will was proved at Wakefield by John Marble Mason and 

John Sunter of Stone House Farmer the son; Effects under £600. By 1881 

Ralphôs wife, Margaret, aged 71 was living at Dent with her son John, 38, 

who was the head of the household, and his family together with his brother 

Joseph described as óJoint Farmerô. Margaret died December 1890 aged 81.16 

 

Of the sons of Ralph senior by 1871 Thomas Sunter had married Mary whose 

age was given as 42 in the census against Thomasôs 38. They were living at 

Kettlewell where Thomas was a óHindô i.e. Shepherd. The 1881 census gives 

Thomasôs occupation as Shepherd and their ages as Thomas 47 and Mary 52. 

Mary was born at Oakcliffe or Adcliffe, Lancashire. Ralph is believed to have 

died in 1859 and John was farming at Dent. John later moved to High Gale, 

Ingleton where in 1891 he was living with his wife Agnes, 42, five sons and 

two daughters. Ten years later they were all still at Ingleton. 

 

An 1847 Kettlewell Tithe Map and Apportionment of the Rent Charge in lieu 

of Tithes17 maps the area around Kettlewell, each field and building being numbered. 

Accompanying the map is a document detailing the names of persons who are 

Improprietors of all the tithes, and the Gross Rent payable to the Tithe owners in lieu 

of Tithes together with the names of the owners and occupiers of each numbered and 

named property, the acreage and the amount payable. Land numbered 309 to 314, i.e. 

Hag Dyke and the surrounding fields, was in the ownership of W Pickersgill, the 

occupier being Ralph Sunter and detailed as follows; 

 

 

309 House and Yard             16perches 

310 Croft                3 rods 11 perches 

311 New Barn Field  3 acres  -----   10perches 

312 Far Field  6 acres 2 rods  9 perches 

313 Near Field  5 acres 

314 Cow Pasture           10 acres 2 rods  9 perches 

 

  

Payable to Vicar 1 shilling.  Payable to Improprietor 6 shillings 3 pence 
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Ralph Sunter was also the occupier of Little Fell (numbered 287 ï the fell side 

above and to the north of Hag Dyke) an area of 59 acres 2 rods and 20 

perches owned by Kettlewell Trust Lords. 

 

We have now seen the name Pickersgill mentioned four times as the possible 

owner of Hag Dyke; firstly in the 1802 map which refers to the Executors of 

Pickersgill, secondly the Land Tax returns 1781-1832, thirdly the  Survey and 

Valuation of 1836 which refers to the proprietor of Hag Dyke as being Mr Pickersgill 

and fourthly the 1847 Kettlewell Tithe Map which states that Hag Dyke was óin the 

ownership of W Pickersgillô. So who was this W. Pickersgill and where did he come 

from? There are few Pickersgills in the Kettlewell Parish Registers. There is one 

burial in the records of Burnsall church of a William Pickersgill who died 18 February 

1836 aged 76 and described as óClark of this churchô. Many Pickersgills are to be 
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found in the Masham and Kirby Malzeard areas. A Memorial as detailed below has 

been located which suggests that the John Pickersgill selling Hag Dyke may have 

been the son of the earlier owner who perhaps had died. Census records of 1851 show 

John and his wife Sophia at 31 Tavistock Square London, John being 64 years of age, 

an American Agent, and born at Ellingstring. Ellingstring is a small hamlet west of 

the A6108 between Leyburn and Masham and only some 12 miles north east of 

Kettlewell, albeit over Middlesmoor. Masham Parish registers contain many 

Pickersgill entries and it may be that the family came from that area. The relationship 

between the Pickersgills and Hag Dyke covering the period from the late 1700s 

through to 1852 remains to be determined. 

 

A Memorial of an Indenture18  dated 19 October 1852 between John 

Pickersgill 31 Tavistock Square London and Sophia Pickersgill, wife of John 

transferred to Matthias Calvert  of Buckden Yeoman óall that estate called 

Haydike otherwise Hagdike situated in Kettlewell now in the occupation of Ralph 

Sunterô namely Farm House, Yard, Outbuildings, New Barn Field, Far Field, Near 

Field Cow Pasture and various Sheepgaites. Who was John? ï the Executor or 

brother/son of William selling off Williamôs property? 

 

An Indenture19  was made 1 June 1857 between Matthias Calvert of 15 

Hanging Ditch Manchester Joiner and Cabinet Maker and George Calvert of 

Rochdale Grocer in respect of óé all that estate called Haydike otherwise Hagdike 

situate Kettlewell now or late in the occupation of Ralph Sunter éô  details of the 

property are again given. Census records of 1851 detail Matthias Calvert as a Lodger 

at Skyreholme, Unmarried aged 23, a Carpenter. Matthias died 23 September 1868 at 

Manchester aged 42.20 His will ówas proved at Manchester by the oath of Mary 

Calvert of 41 Fernbank, Cheetham, Manchester widow of the relect and sole 

Executrixô. Effects under Ã100.  

George Calvert appears in the 1851 census at 25 Whitworth Road, 

Wardleworth, Rochdale aged 35, a Potato Merchant born at Kettlewell, living with his 

wife Ann born at Rochdale and five children. Twenty years later Ann had died and the 

family was at 27 Red Cross Street, Wardleworth. 

 

Census 1871 27 Red Cross Street Wardleworth 

George Calvert  Head W 55 Potato Merchant Kettlewell 

Thomas  Son U 23 Silk Manager  Rochdale 

Henry   Son U 19 Merchantôs Son Rochdale 

Charles  Son U 17 Merchantôs Son Rochdale 

Isabella  Dau U 26 Housekeeper  Rochdale

   

 

Census records of 1861 show that Henry Robinson had replaced Ralph 

Sunter as the occupier of Hag Dyke; 

  
Census 1861 Hag Dyke 

 Henry Robinson Head U 38 Farmer of Kettlewell 

       26 acres 

 Elizabeth Bushby Serv. U 47 Farmerôs Servant ?Wensleydale 
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Ten years earlier Henry was a Farmer at West Scale Park, a property some 2 

miles from Kettlewell approached from the present Coverdale road,  living 

with his sister Margaret, 36, Judith Chapman his niece aged 13 born at 

Coverdale and working as a Servant, and his brother James 45. Henry was the 

brother of William Robinson who around 1878 became the owner of Hag 

Dyke. 

 

Census 1871 Hag Dyke 

 Henry Robinson Head ? 49 Farmer West Scale Park 

 Christina Bradbury Serv. M 38 Housekeeper Kettlewell 

 

At the 1891 census John Metcalf, a Farm Bailiff, was living at West Scale 

Park. 

  

A Memorial of an Indenture of Reconveyance bearing the date 3 November 

186621  has been identified the significance of which is unclear. The Indenture was 

between Richard Greenwood of Settle Mary Cartley of Settle Widow William Hartley 

of Settle and John Hartley of Clapham and George Calvert of Rochdale Cotton 

Spinner. óRichard Greenwood Mary Cartley William Hartley and John Hartley did 

assign transfer and set over grant and deconvey unto George Calvert all that estate 

called Haydike otherwise Hagdike then or then late in the occupancy of Ralph 

Sunteré (details of property and gaites)écomprised in two Indentures of Mortgage 

dated 28 February 1853 between Matthias Calvert and Richard Greenwood and 6 

January 1854 between Matthias Calvert and George Hartleyéô 

 

In 1861 a Richard Greenwood aged 51 an ironmonger born at Wrigglesworth 

was living at News Street, Settle; a John Hartley aged 39 born at Giggleswick a 

farmer of 70 acres, Land Agent, Surveyor and Valuer was living at Clapham. Ten 

years earlier a William Hartley, 26, a Solicitor  born at Lawley was living at Catteral 

Hall. These may have been the gentlemen mentioned above. 

 

A further Memorial22 is dated 18 September 1867 between George Calvert 

Cotton Spinner of Manchester Road, Rochdale and Charles Lodge of Starbotton 

Gentleman óéconcerning all that estate called Haydike or Hagdike then or late in the 

occupation of Ralph Sunter éô The census of Starbotton of 1861 details Charles 

Lodge, Head, Widower, 59, Lead Mine Agent, born Starbotton. Ten years later 

Charlesôs occupation is given as óIncome from landô. He was then living with his 

Sister in Law, Margery Carr, as Housekeeper. The Register of Owners of Land 1873 

records Charles as having 286 acres 30 perches with a Gross Estimated rental of 

£104-13-0. Charles died 31 December 1879 at Starbotton aged 78 and is buried at 

Kettlewell. His Will was proved at Wakefield óby Bernard Lodge of Starbotton 

Gentleman the son the sole Executorô. Effects not exceeding Ã200. 

 

Memorial of a deed dated 23 July 187223  between Charles Lodge of 

Starbotton, Gentleman and Bernard Lodge of the same place Yeoman ( the only 

son and heir apparent of the said Charles Lodge) of and concerning all that estate 

called Haydike otherwise Hagdyke situate in the parish of Kettlewell formerly in the 

occupation of Ralph Sunter but now Adam Robinson as tenant and consisting of the 

following particulars and containing in statute measure the several quantities 

hereinafter mentioned that is to say the Farm house with the yard outbuildings 
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appurtenances 16 perches the Croft 3 roods and 11 perches the New Barn field 3 acres 

10 perches the Far Field 6 acres 2 roods and 9 perches the Near Field 5 acres and the 

Cow Pasture 10 acres 2 roods and 9 perches and all those ten and a quarter sheep 

gaites or liberty for 10 full grown sheep for a limited time for the full gait according to 

the custom of stinting to go graze feed lie and depasture in upon and throughout all 

that stinted pasture called Whernside situate within the parish of Kettlewell aforesaid 

and all other (if any) sheepgaites or cattlegaites of him the said Charles Lodge in or 

upon the aforesaid pasture called Whernside or in or upon another stinted pasture 

within the parish of Kettlewell called Topmere or in or upon any other of the stinted 

pastures within the parish of Kettlewell together with the appurtenances and all that 

the undivided share or proportion right and interest of him the said Charles Lodge of 

and in the Manor and Royalty of the Manor of Kettlewell aforesaid and the rents and 

privileges to the same belonging and also that the Impropriate rent charge or sum of 

six shillings and three pence apportioned on the aforesaid estate in lieu of Tithes 

together with the appurtenances. 

 

Bernard Lodge, the son of Charles was, at the age of 13 in 1861 a Boarder 

(probably at a school) at Westfield Terrace, Scarborough, in 1871 he was a Mining 

Agent living at Starbotton , in 1891 a Commission Agent Worsted at Kettlewell and 

in 1901 a Retired Lead Mining Engineer. He married around June 1872 at Skipton. 

Bernard died 7 September 1910 at Lancaster aged 63.24 Probate records detail his 

address as Over Kellett, Carnforth. Administration was granted to óRobert Lodge 

motor body builder the attorney of Charles Lodgeô. Effects Ã200. 

 

Census 1901 1 Cavendish Street, Lancaster 

Bernard Lodge Head M 53 Retd Lead Mining Starbotton 

      Engineer 

Isabella  Wife M 50    Kettlewell 

Sarah   Dau UnM 26 Ladyôs Companion Starbotton 

Charles  Son UnM 24 Warehouseman Starbotton 

Richard  Son UnM 22 Grocerôs Assistant Starbotton 

Annie   dau UnM 16 Milliner   Starbotton 

Robert   Son UnM 15 Errand Boy  Starbotton 

Marjery  Dau  12    Starbotton

    

Memorial 26 June 187825  between Bernard Lodge of Starbotton Charles 

Lodge of the same place Thomas Murgatroyd of Skipton and William Robinson 

of The Lodge Over Kellett Carnforth Haydike or Hagdike formerly in occupation of 

Ralph Sunter then late of Adam Robinson but then of Thomas Metcalf as Tenant. 

William Robinson was born at West Scale Park, Kettlewell in 1819. In the 1861 

census he described himself as a Landed proprietor and farmer of 42 acres employing 

2 labourers. 

Census 1861 West Scale Park, Kettlewell 

William Robinson Head M 42 Landed proprietor Scale Park 

Emma   Wife M 35    Ely 

William B  Son  5    Ely 

Henry W  Son  4    Kettlewell 

Alice   Dau  2    Kettlewell 

Emma   Dau  2    Kettlewell 
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William was born at West Scale Park around 1819, one of possibly 12 children 

(11 have been identified) of Leonard Robinson and Judith Briscoe who married at 

Kettlewell 23 March 1802. Leonard was the youngest child of another Leonard who 

died in the early 1800s. Leonard the elder must have bought Scale Park towards the 

end of the 1700s as until that time Parish Registers detail members of the Bolland 

family as living there, the last entries being the burial of Ann wife of John Bolland 

jnr. of Park 24 March 1794 and on the same date the burial of John Bolland snr. A 

record of the burial of Robert Bolland on 5 June 1803 refers to him being the óson of 

John Bolland late of Scale Parkô. When the elder children of Leonard and Judith were 

baptised the family was living at Lower Park House but by 1813 the Registers show 

the family as living at Scale Park. Leonard óof The Parkô was buried at Kettlewell 24 

July 1836 aged 71. In 1841 Judith, aged 60 was living at West Scale Park with four of 

her children. Six of the twelve children were boys, James 1805, Leonard 1807, Adam 

1811, William 1819 and Henry 1821. William snr. bought Hag Dyke in 1878 and 

continued living at Scale Park until 1881 when he left the area to live at The Lodge, 

Over Kellett, Carnforth where in the 1881 census he is described as a Retired Farmer. 

The 1891 census shows Williamôs wife Emma as a widow visiting the home of Eli 

Lock in Lincoln Road, Finchley. The 1881 census for Kettlewell shows West Scale 

Park as being unoccupied with the note óOccupier left since schedule left and gone 

into another districtô.  

Williamôs younger brother Henry was the occupier of Hag Dyke in the 1860s 

and 1870s. 

 

Reference has been made earlier to the smelt mill at Kettlewell which had 

been on the site (SD975728) since before 1669. Because the mill had no flue leading 

to a distant chimney it was plagued with complaints about óthe injurious effects of the 

fumes from the smelt mill é by which é many cattle have been injuredô. The 

problem was discussed at a Court Leet and Court Baron of the Trust Lords held on 

October 5th 1831 when it was resolved to build a flue and chimney to take off the 

fumes. The record was signed by Jonathon Foster and Leonard Robinson. Gill 54 

suggests that nothing major was done until the Trust Lords formed a committee in 

1858 which asked a Mr Wright for permission to take the flue through his property 

but he refused. Around that time William Robinson, son of Leonard, one of the Trust 

Lords bought land adjoining the mill. He and William Briscoe of Newbiggin, 

Bishopdale, (note the name Briscoe and the maiden name of Leonard Robinsonôs 

wife), another Trust Lord with land on the line of the proposed flue, offered to build 

the flue themselves, entirely on their own property, if they were allowed to keep any 

fume lead recovered from it. 55 William Robinson was paid annual damages of £5.00 

for the flue and a water course which ran across his land. 

 

In 1871 Adam Robinson, the son of Adam born 1811 above, aged 23 and 

born at Coverhead, Coverdale, was the farmer at East Scale Park. According 

to the Indentures of 23 July 1872 and 26 June 1878 between Charles and 

Bernard Lodge and Bernard Lodge and William Robinson respectively, he 

held a short tenancy at Hag Dyke but in view of the close proximity of East 

Scale Park and Hag Dyke did he live at one whilst working both farms? 

 

Thomas Metcalf is similarly named in the Indenture of 26 June 1878 as 

being a tenant at Hag Dyke. 
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By 1881 Thompson Brown was the tenant 
Census 1881 Hay Dyke 

 Thompson Brown Head M 36 Farmer of  Kettlewell 

       126 acres 

 Margaret  Wife M 33   Kettlewell 

 John   Son  5   Kettlewell 

 Thompson  Son  3   Kettlewell 

 

Thompson was born at Kettlewell (1861 census states born Kildwick) the son 

of John and Jane Brown. John was a Lead Miner and Farmer of 20 acres. In 

1871 Thompson was an unmarried Farm Servant working at East Scale Park 

where Adam Robinson a Farmer aged 23 was head. Thompson married 

Margaret in 1874.26 At the 1891 census Thompson Brown and his family (no 

more children) were at Bales House, Healey, Masham, and ten years later at 

Calton, Kirby Malham. In both these censuses Margaret was recorded as 

having been born at Buckden. Thompson died aged 65 in December 1909.27  

In the 1885/6 Register of Voters Thompson was registered as an 

óOccupational Voterô, not Ownership Voter, with Land and Tenement at Hagg 

Dike Farm.  

 

Memorial of Indenture dated 28 February 188528  between William Robinson 

West Scale Park and the Craven Bank Ltd. This is a very detailed document and 

appears to detail all the properties owned by William Robinson in three Schedules. 

The Second Schedule relates to Haydike otherwise Hagdike óin occupation formerly 

of Ralph Sunter then late of Adam Robinson afterwards Thomas Metcalfe but then of     

(  space  ) as tenant and consisting of éô The question is why was the property put 

into the ownership of the Bank? Did William go bankrupt?  

 

In 188529  there was an Indentiture of Conveyance of a small property in 

Kettlewell between the Craven Bank and Welbury Kendall, Thomas Davis and Robert 

Marshall. 

 

At both the 1891 and 1901 censuses Hag Dyke was recorded as being 

unoccupied. 

 

A Memorial of Indenture of 189230  between Craven Bank Ltd. and George 

Kendall of Skipton detailed five ólotsô. The first lot was óall that estate called Hagg 
Dyke or Hay Dike situate in the township of Kettlewell comprising Farmhouse and 

farm buildings and about 25 acres 1 rood 31 perches of meadow and pasture landô 

including House, Barn, Garden and Outbuildings, Garth and Barn, Meadow, Near 

Field, Far Field, Low Pasture and Wood óand which same estate is now in the 

occupation of the said George Kendallô. 

 

In 1851 the census records the Kendall household living at Bank Yard, 

Skipton.  

Thomas Kendall Head   M 47   Tobaconist  Halifax 

Sarah      Wife   M 47    Calder Bridge 

George      Son Unm. 21   Solicitors Clerk  Halton East   

               Skipton 
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Elizabeth     Dau Unm. 15    Halton East 

Welbury     Son   Unm. 12   Scholar   Skipton 

 

At the 1861 census George was described as a Timber Merchant employing 

four men and Welbury a Bankerôs Clerk. Ten years later, in 1871, Sarah had been 

widowed, George and Elizabeth were still at Bank Yard and Welbury and his wife 

Elizabeth were at Curter Street Skipton. 

 

Mr George Kendall, the then owner of Hag Dyke, died in the 18th March 1898. 
31 The Craven Herald published on that date announced his death ówhich took place at 

his residence Belle View, Skipton at about half past one oôclock this (Friday) 

morningô. The cause of death was mycosis fungoides, a malignant disease of the skin. 

 

The Craven Herald printed an obituary of some 39 column inches on the 18 

March and more than 40 column inches in the publication of 25 March 1898 which 

included details of his funeral. The following details are extracted from those two 

papers. 

óMr Kendall, who was a bachelor, and resided with his sister, belonged to an 

old Craven family. A mural tablet on the south side of Skipton parish church records 

the death of George Kendall, of Halton East in 1786. This was the great grandfather of 

the subject of our memoir. Like his ancestor, Mr Kendall belonged to Halton East 

where he was born in 1829. He, however, came to Skipton when quite young, and his 

whole life has been practically associated with the town which now mourns his loss.ô 

In an address when a candidate for a seat as representative Governor of the Skipton 

Grammar School around 1870 Mr Kendall said ó From my childhood I have lived 

amongst you, as a boy I was a scholar at the Grammar School, and from my youth 

upwards I humbly submit that I have taken part in all matters which had for their 

object the improvement of my native town. My present and past connections with its 

leading institutions and those of the district may, I think, fairly be referred to as 

evidence of the interest I do now show, and have always shewn, in public affairsô. óHe 

was brought up in the office of Mr Henry Alcock, solicitor and banker, whose 

influence at that time was very great in the town. In such a training ground Mr 

Kendall soon acquired a knowledge of local men and things, of public affairs and 

private affairs, which in after years he turned to such good account. Indeed it might be 

said that he became a public man as soon as he attained manhood, for we find that at 

the age of twenty-four he was appointed to the important post of secretary to the 

newly formed Craven Agricultural Societyô [for 45 years until 1882 when he 

subsequently held the office of chairman of the council]. óMr Kendall was a 

Churchman and had been connected with the Parish Church from his earliest years. 

He had several times been chosen as a warden and was a sidesman at the time of his 

death.ô [He was] óbrought up from his earliest years in an atmosphere of 

Conservatismô and in 1885 was thought to be a worthy candidate for the new Skipton 

Parliamentary constituency. At the final selection meeting Mr Kendall withdrew his 

candidature.  He was however the Skipton representative on the County Council from 

1892 until shortly before his death. óIn the various railway enterprises connected with 

the district Mr Kendall took an active partô ï the Skipton to Ilkley Line, the Skipton to 

Grassington Line, known as the Yorkshire Dales Railway, and the Barnoldswick 

Railway Co. óHe was one of the founders of the Craven Lodge of Freemasons and one 

of the few survivors of the first recruits to the Skipton Rifle Volunteers. He was one 

of the founders of the Mechanics Institute and also treasurer to the Skipton and 
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District Permanent Benefit Building Society. He was one of the promoters of the 

Skipton Conservative Newspaper Company, for the establishment of the óCraven 

Heraldô. He was Clerk to the East Staincliffe Highways Board from its formation in 

1862 until it was emerged into the Rural District Council. He also became Clerk to the 

Burial Board when that body was formed in 1873 and retained that office until the 

last. He was Secretary to the Town Hall Company and held many more offices. He 

was the owner of numerous farms, and was largely engaged in many building and 

other commercial enterprises in the town and districtô including the Millholme Shed at 

Embsay becoming secretary of the company and a large shareholder, and the promoter 

of a large mill in Broughton Road. The press articles continued by detailing his 

sporting interests, his personal qualities, tributes and funeral arrangements. 

 

In a centenary booklet published by the Skipton Building Society in 1953 

George is named as one of the founding directors.  

 

A comparison between the above details of Georgeôs activities and his 

occupation as given in the various census records is a little odd. The 1851 census 

(above) details him as a Solicitorôs Clerk, 1861 as a Timber Merchant and General 

Clerk in Sales Office, 1871 as a Timber Merchant, 1881 as Timber Merchant and 

1891 [Rendall in Ancestry, not Kendall] Living on Own Means. There is no reference 

in the obituary to his being a timber merchant nor confirmation that he might have 

been a solicitor despite his early training.  

 

Probate was granted at Wakefield his effects being £38,737-9-1 and was 

resworn in March 1899 as £40,485-14-8. 

 

Adjacent to the memorial tablet to George Kendall (   -1786 above) in Skipton 

Parish Church is a stained glass window óTo the Glory of God in loving memory of 

George Kendall of Skipton born 9th September 1829 died 18th March 1898. This 

window placed by his devoted Brother and Sister Welbury and Elizabeth Kendallô.    

 

It is assumed that after the death of George the ownership of Hag Dyke passed 

to his brother Welbury Kendall . No conveyance to that effect has yet been located 

but following Welburyôs death it is his descendants who sold the property. In 1873 the 

Register of Owners of Land  records Melbury (sic) Kendall as having 8 acres 3 rods 

and 1 perch with a Gross Estimated Rental of £76-6-0.  

 

Census 1881 36 Broughton Road, Skipton 

Welbury Kendall Head M      42   Timber Merchant empl. Skipton 

     4 men 

Elizabeth            Wife   M       32     Skipton 

Eleanor G.    Dau     9   Scholar   Skipton 

Edith     Dau     7   Scholar   Skipton 

George     Son      6   Scholar   Skipton 

 Sarah A    Dau     3    Skipton 

  

By 1901 Welbury [Galbury in Ancestry] was living with his wife and son George at 

The Raikes, Skipton. He is described as a Retired Bank Manager and his son a Bank 

Cashier. 
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When Welbury died on the 3rd November 1911 the Craven Herald published a 

short obituary of six and a half column inches of which over two thirds details his 

funeral. It reported óMr Kendall was assistant manager of the Craven Bank Limited 

and also a director until the amalgamation with the Bank of Liverpool. For many 

years he was a manager of the Skipton Parish Church Day Schools and had also been 

a warden of the Parish Church, but never took a prominent part in the public life of 

the townô, the writer might have been tempted to add, óunlike his brotherô. 

 

The website of the Embsay and Bolton Abbey Steam Railway records that óon 

Monday 1 October 1888 new tracks opened all the way from Skipton to Ilkley and the 

first through ticket was purchased by Welbury Kendall a Skipton Timber Merchantô. 

One can presume that his elder brother got a free ride! 

 

Under the Finance Act of 1910 the Commissioners of Inland Revenue had to 

cause a valuation to be made of all the land in the United Kingdom. The Valuation 

Books in North Yorkshire are also known as Domesday Books. These books detail the 

owners and occupiers of land, a description of the property and its situation, the 

original gross value with deductions for buildings and other structures and the original 

full site value with deductions for public rights of way, rights of common, easements 

etc. The property occupied by Peter Thos Hammel including 2 cottages and garden, 

land, buildings, barns and 126 gaits was in Kettlewell including Hag Dyke, part of 

Hookbank and Kettlewell Moor. Other than a small area of land and a barn owned by 

C A Cowling the rest was owned by Welbury Kendall of Ilkley. The extent of the 

holding as determined by the Valuer was just over 132 acres with an Original Gross 

Value of £1477.32   

 

Whilst researching this history it was the above document which caused the 

present writer problems. The Valuation Book was completed by hand and, never 

having previously come across the name Welbury Kendall, the name of the owner 

was read as Welbury K Eudell of Ilkley. Considerable time was spent unsuccessfully 

trying to locate the Eudell family until another document gave the name Kendall 

Welbury. Only then did the penny drop that the original name had been written as 

Welbury K Endall with an apparent gap between the K and the capital E which 

appeared as a reversed 3 like the Esso petrol sign. 

 

Welbury Kendall óof The Ghyll, Ilkleyô purchased 4 acres 27 perches of 

Meadowland óWheatfieldô from John William Marshall of Lancaster by an Indenture 

dated 7 September 191133  although he died 3 November 1911.34  

 

Following Welburyôs death Probate was granted at London 16 January 1912 to 

George Kendall of Abbotts Leigh, Bridlington [son], Eleanor Gertrude Cook wife of 

Rev. Henry Cook Canon of Ripon and Rector of Skipton [daughter], Rev. Canon 

Henry Lucas Cook, Clerk, Francis Herbert Pilcher of Capel Curig, Bournemouth, 

Bank Manager and Charles Edward Milnes, Sunny Bank, Ilkley, Architect. Effects 

£55,025-11-8. 

 

Five vendors are named in an Indentiture of Conveyance dated 15 October 

1912, 35 being the same five as were granted probate, when the property was sold to 

Leonard Gaunt of Hazelbrae, Farsley. The sale comprised; 
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óFirstly all those two closes or parcels of land situate in Kettlewell called 

Hooks Banks and Langliffe pasture and containing 22 acres 3 rods and 28 perches and 

61 acres 1 rood and 27 perches respectively lately in the occupation of Robert 

Bentham but now occupied by Peter Thomas Hammel and now forming part of the 

farm called Hagg Dyke. 

Secondly all those 29 sheep gaites for 29 full made sheep. 

Thirdly all that estate called Hagg Dyke situate in Kettlewell, Farm House 

Buildings about 25 acres 1 rood and 31 perches of Meadow and pasture Land. 

House Barn Outbuildings 16p 

Garth and Barn 3r 11p 

Meadow 2a 3r 31p 

Near Field 5a 13p 

Far Field 6a 1r 2p 

Low Pasture and Wood 10a 38p 

Fourthly 96 sheepgates for 96 full made sheep. 

 

Robert Bentham is detailed as having been a tenant at Hag Dyke in the 

indenture of conveyance dated 15 October 1912. 

 

Peter Thomas Hammel 
Peter was born at Askrigg in 1863 to Elizabeth Tunstall Hammel an 

unmarried mother born at Aysgarth in 1828. Elizabeth was the daughter of 

Peter Hammell born 1799 and Jane Tunstall born 1802 who married 26 May 

1826. In 1871 Elizabeth, 40, was Housekeeper to Thomas Mason a widower 

and Farmer of 42 acres at Askrigg where she apparently lived with a daughter 

of 14 and a son, Thomas, of seven. At the time of the 1881 census she was 

farming 12 acres at Aysgarth with her unmarried son of 17, Thomas. From the 

time of the 1891 census Thomas had acquired another name to become Peter 

Thomas. A Peter Thomas Hammel had banns read at Kettlewell 2 April 1893 

and married a Sarah Brown of Starbotton in June 1893 at Dewsbury.36  

 

 At the 1901 census Peter, then aged 38, was farming at Starbotton with his 

wife Sarah.  Sarah died 7 February 1936 aged 78 and Peter 1 July 1949 aged 

86. Their daughter Elizabeth died 5 January 1970 aged 75. All three are 

buried at Kettlewell. Probate records for Peter Thomas Hammell of Moorside 

Farm, Stainburn, Otley grant administration to Frank Hammell, Farmer. 

Effects £1107-10-5. 

 

Census 1901 Starbotton 

Peter Thomas Hammel Head M 38 Farmer Askrigg 

Sarah    Wife M 43   Keighley 

Francis   Son    3   Starbotton 

Elizabeth Ann   Dau    7   Starbotton 

 

Ten years later at the 1911 Census, the first to be completed by the head of the 

household rather than an enumerator, Francis had become Frank. 

 

The Hag Dyke Visitors Log records a visit by Frank Hammel 23 October 

1955; óMr Hammel lived at Hag Dyke from 1904 to 1930 as a farmer. His son 

was born in the house and he told of many experiences of being snowed in 
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during the winters. Mr Hammel also described how in the living room (now 

the kitchen) there used to be a large inglenook including an old Dutch oven. 

Owing to subsidence and damp the whole of the wall was reconstructed and 

the passage made along the outside of the top end of the house. In doing this 

the protruding chimney stack and of course the inglenook was scrapped.ô He 

further reminisced that in the old days each leg of the journey from the farm to 

Kettlewell by horse and cart took 75 minutes whereas the journey now by 

Landrover took 15 minutes.  

 

Leonard Gaunt of Hazelbrae, Farsley owned Hag Dyke from 1912 until 

his death in 1926 aged 67. At the time of the 1901 census he was aged 42 a woollen 

cloth manufacturer living with his wife Ruth, 34, and six children, three girls and 3 

boys. Leonard was the son of Reuben Gaunt who in 1871 was aged 46 living at Spring 

Wood Villa, Priesthorpe Lane, Farsley. He was described as a woollen cloth 

manufacturer employing 500 hands and Landowner. The family home, Hazelbrae, 

was built in 1841 on Shell Lane (now Calverley Lane and they ran Douglas wool mill 

in Bradford. Some of their fortune was shared with the Calverley community, 

investing in the Civic Hall, a rebuild of St Wilfredôs and the Band Stand. Douglas 

Mill on Bowling Old Lane was started in 1807 in a boom period for the textile 

industry. Leonard eventually became head of the family and the business but a 

generation on the mill was a casualty of the textile industryôs decline and Leonardôs 

son, Philip, sold both the business and the residence in 1939 and moved the family to 

Devon. Leonard Gaunt died 17 February 1926 at the Limefield Nursing Home, 

Torquay. Probate was granted at Wakefield 9 June to Frederick William Gaunt, 

Woollen Manufacturer, John Charles Gaunt Farmer, Philip Gaunt Woollen 

Manufacturer and Irwin Brook Manufacturerôs Manager. Effects Ã188,697-0-8.  Many 

members of the Gaunt family including Reuben, Leonardôs father, who died in 1902 

aged 82, and Leonard are interred at Farsley Rehoboth Particular Baptist Chapel. 

 

Indenture dated 16 March 192137  between Mark Woodrup formerly of 

Kettlewell and now of Gargrave sold to Leonard Gaunt for  £530 Pasture land at 

Howbanks 13a 3r 14p and Meadowland at Howbanks Meadow 6a 3r 32p now in the 

occupation of John Woodrup. Also in 192138  the Vicar of Kettlewell, Rev. Cockerill, 

sold to Leonard Gaunt Pasture and Meadow at Hawfield 6a 2r 29p, Arable land 

óBorranceô 3r 5p and Meadow land óLow Borrance 2r. 

 

 Memorial 39 óé whereas Leonard Gaunt deceased late of Hazelbrae Farsley 

aforesaid who was at the date of his death seized of or otherwise well entitled to the 

hereditaments hereinafter described in unencumbered fee simple in possession died 17 

February 1926 by his Will dated 30 June 1922 appointed Ruth Gaunt and the vendors 

executorséô. 

 

In August 1927 Hag Dyke was sold by a group of four, three of whom were 

the sons of Leonard Gaunt, who appear to have been Leonardôs Executors. They were 

Frederick William Gaunt of Ashville, New Street, Farsley, Woollen Manufacturer, 

John Charles Gaunt, Rowley Grange, Scarcroft, Leeds, Farmer, Philip Gaunt, 

Ashville, New Street, Farsley, Woollen Manufacturer and Irwin Brook, Woodroyd, 

Farsley, Manufacturerôs Manager. By a Conveyance40  dated 30 August 1927, two 

parcels of land, Hooksbank and Langliffe Pasture being 22 acres 3 rods and 28 

perches, and 61 acres 1 rood and 27 perches respectively which formed part of the 
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farm called Hag Dyke and all that estate known as Hag Dyke, house, buildings and 25 

acres 1 rood and 31 perches together with other land and numerous sheep gaites óall 

which premises described now in the occupation of Peter Thomas Hammel as tenantô 

was sold to Harold Edgar Bradley 451 Padiham Road, Burnley, Cinema 

Proprietor. 

 

Harold Bradley, via a Conveyance 41 made 17 June 1924, purchased for £130 a 

parcel of land known as óAinhamsô 11acres 2rods and 26 perches from Leonard 

Gaunt.  

 

Harold Edgar Bradley and Mary Bradley, widow, sold Hag Dyke as described 

above together with other lands and sheep gaites by a Conveyance and Assignment42 

dated 17 July 1939 to William Becket Henderson of the Manor House, 

Kettlewell, Wool Merchant. 

 

A number of other personnel may have been tenants or occupiers of Hag Dyke 

although no confirmation of these has been identified. A Jack Carr, who it is 

said later went to Malham, may have been the last to farm there. 

 

From about 1939 Hag Dyke may have been used by a Family for weekends. 

In the Hag Dyke Visitors Log for the mid 1950s is a letter headed óFrom the 

last ownerô. It is more likely to be from a family who used the premises as a 

weekend holiday home. The letter is undated and the signature illegible but it 

was addressed as from Mould Grain, Heptonstall, Hebden Bridge. The writer 

states that he has óno historical knowledge of the placeô. 

 

 The Officer Cadet Army Training Unit and the Operational Training 

Unit of the RAF may have occasionally used Hag Dyke around 1940 and 

around the same period the RAF occupied the buildings whilst searching for 

and clearing the wreckage from crashed aircraft. 

  

  

  

The Kettlewell Trust Lords and their relationship with the 

owners/occupiers of Hag Dyke 

 
Earlier in the discussion of the Kettlewell Trust Lords we learnt of the annual 

appointment to various positions, Barmaster, byelawmen, shepherd etc. Allied to the 

Trust Lord papers at Northallerton is the Kettlewell Byelaw Book now housed in the 

Central Reference Library, Bradford which contains minutes of meetings of the 

byelaw men chosen to oversee the use of the commons and pastures are extant from 

1777.43 An annual meeting was called to appoint various officials and let the hirding 

(appoint a shepherd for a year) and to decide the stint. The stint being the number of 

sheep and/or cattle to be allowed to graze on common pastures and the dates between 

which the grazing could take place.  

 

At least two of the personnel that we have met already met in connection with 

Hag Dyke have been Trust Lords of Kettlewell. Welbury Kendall was a trust Lord for 
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some years until his death and William Becket Henderson who was appointed 18 June 

1928, again served until his death 

 

 Other personnel connected with Hag Dyke are mentioned in the Byelaw Book 

the earliest being Jeffrey Parker in reference to the Whernside stint taken 7 August 

1806, and Ralph Sunter when the stint was taken 16 August 1809. 

When recording the meeting of 16 May 1844 the area was spelt Whearanside. 

Thomas Metcalf, who it is suggested occupied Hag Dyke between Henry Robinson 

and Thompson Brown, was appointed óHirdô (shepherd) 15 March 1877 at £1 per 

week, Thomas Sunter, the son of Ralph Sunter 29 March 1883 and Frank Hammel 6 

March 1915. 

Below are the minutes of the meeting when Thomas Sunter was elected shepherd. 

óAt a meeting according to due notice held at the Kingôs Head Inn Kettlewell 

this day March 29th 1883 for the letting of the hirding of Whearnside and Top 

Mere for the ensuing year The undersigned agree to stock one ewe and one 

lamb per gate. It is all so agreed to let the Hirding to Thomas Sunter for the 

sum of 14s 6 per week from the 9 April to last of October two first weaks for 

one weak pay and to make all his work of the said Hirding for six days per 

weak during the said spesfied time also to keep the Black dike Fence up and 

assist Joseph Horner to Keep the Top mere Fence up and shall not be allowed 

to beak any young dog or dogs not to allow any Person or Persons to do the 

same on the said moors it is also agreed that no sheep owner remove or Hind 

is [his] or any [other] sheep or other wise disturb stock on the said moors with 

out acquanting the Hird who shall in all cases go with all persons and assist in 

removing such stock any person found breaking the Byelaw shall be fined 10 

shillings for the First offence and one pound for the second offence and all 

expencis It is agreed that the Hird assist any gate houlder to find any sheep 

that shall be wanting on the last of October for one week Free of charge and 

shall keep the sheep fould Fence up in good repair.ô 

 

At a meeting on the 5th March 1910 at the Race Horses Inn, Kettlewell 

William Robinson [Hag Dyke Owner] was Chairman and Peter Thomas 

Hammel [one of the Hag Dyke tenants] was appointed one of the two 

Byelawmen. óIt was unanimously agreed that the Byelawmen have power to 

engage three men for washing at 4s each and the gaitholders to have the 

preference in turn. It was also agreed that all sheep have the Moor Mark on viz 

Red badge down far ribs.ô 

 

In 1915 Frank Hammel, son of Thomas above and then aged around 17, was 

óengaged as shepherd at Ã1-3-0 per week from first of April to end of October 

subject to the rules of 1905, and 1914, also to come to Kettlewell Pind Fold 

every Tuesday and Friday during the specified time to take sheep to the Moor 

for his employers at 8a.m.ô  
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  Part 3 
 

Hag Dyke from 1947 

 
A number of records of the origins of Hag Dyke as a Scout hostel are extant 

which vary slightly in their detail but the personal memories of Peter Warnes, now 

living in New Zealand, and a recording made in March 1977 at the Kingôs Hall, Ilkley 

on the occasion of a óThis is your Lifeô style event to celebrate the retirement of 

Skipper Ronald Ibbetson when he added detail to the planned script, form the story. 

óThe winter of 1946/7 was then perhaps the most severe and longest lasting in living 

memoryô writes Peter Warnes. óDuring February and March the Senior Scouts would 

often have a snow hike during the weekend where we would walk over roads and 

farmland with stonewalls and fences buried well beneath our feet. Snowploughs had 

to cut through drifts up to 10 feet high in the country roads around Timble where we 

often explored. These energetic and enjoyable activities prompted the then 1st Ben 

Rhydding Scout Group leader, Ronald Ibbetson, who was known as óSkipperô, and 

myself as Troop Scout Leader of the Senior Scouts, to discuss the possibility of 

finding a permanent camp site where similar outdoor activities could continue to be 

regularly enjoyed by our Group. Our thoughts on location were that the ideal site 

should be reasonably near to Ilkley and accessible by public transport, so our 

Yorkshire Dales immediately came to mind. 

 

Without delay Skipper placed an advertisement in the Craven Herald briefly 

explaining our thoughts on procuring an old farm building (Skipper referred to it as a 

barn or shack) to rent somewhere in the Dales to use as an outdoor base.ô Soon after a 

letter was received from Mrs Dulcie Coates, the wife of tenant farmer Mr William 

Coates of Hay Tongue Farm, Kettlewell, who stated that they had two barns that they 

did not use. Skipper thought that as the farm had lost many sheep during the bad 

winter Mrs Coates was thinking of a little extra income by renting the barn.ô 

 

Peter continues óSkipper and I arranged to meet Dulcie at Hay Tongue farm 

and made our way by bus from Ilkley to Kettlewell via Skipton. Very few people had 

cars or motorcycles in those days and public transport was to be our regular means of 

transport to Kettlewell for quite some time to come. It was, I believe, the month of 

May 1947 and we had a very wet and cold walk from the bus stop in Kettlewell to the 

farm. On the walk up there were the remains of deep snow drifts still scattered around 

in huge mounds that were melting to uncover the preserved carcasses of sheep 

tragically lost to the vicious snow storms of earlier months. From the start of the 1st 

Ben Rhyddingôs long acquaintance with the Coates family we were all made 

extremely welcome and given the most wonderful hospitality, this was, we soon 

realised, the hallmark of this lovely family. The Coates were tenants of Hay Tongue 

farm that was then owned by Mr Henderson who lived in a farm originally belonging 

to my uncle at Coniston Cold. The Coates directed us to examine two of their unused 

barns. The lower one was considered to be the more suitable of the twoô. 

 

Adding to the story at the March 1977 retirement celebration Dulcie Coates 

said óI said you could have it but we must get permission from the Hendersons as itôs 

their land. Skipper was not a bit keen ï he thought they would not get it ï but I knew 

they wouldô. 
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A pen and ink sketchmap of the Hag Dyke/Kettlewell area is extant which 

shows a small building marked barn which is in the same position as a small building 

(map ref 982735) on approximately the 1300ft. contour in Near Open Hay Tongue, a 

field detailed on the Ordnance Survey 1:10560 map of 1853-1854. This may be the 

location of óThe Chaletô. 

 

There were many working weekends to make the small barn more habitable 

and to provide easier access to the hayloft which was used for sleeping. Two of those 

prominent in working on the barn were Philip óPipô Woodhead and Brian Eagle. Cows 

had used the barn as their home and there was something like two feet of cow manure 

to remove prior to laying a concrete floor. óJune was a very hot monthô, says Peter, 

óconcreting was heavy work and late one Saturday after a days work I remember 

Jerrold Turner and myself lit a fire beneath a partially filled galvanised steel sheep 

trough that lay nearby to enjoy a hot bath. Mr Henderson often visited his tenant 

farms and so was aware of the progress we continued to make with the barn. He was 

much impressed by our efforts and realised that we were quite serious about the 

projectô. 

 

David Harrison, the compere at the 1977 celebration remembers the time well, 

óafter a month or two and when we were just about flaked out, Skipper burst in one 

day óYou donôt need to bother with the concrete floor, we have found somewhere 

better; - so if anyone wants a concrete floor I know where there is one!ô 

 

The scouts had come to the rescue of a Landrover which one of Mr 

Hendersonôs henchmen had been trying to drive to the top of Whernside when it had 

tipped over a small precipice. By using ropes which they had with them the Scouts got 

it out. óI think Mr Henderson was impressed with usô said Skipper, óhe said the barn is 

a rough place to sleep in why not have Hag Dyke instead?ô óThis had not been 

occupied since the military had used it for training and search and rescue both during 

and immediately after the war. The appeal was immediate, the barn project was 

immediately terminated and once more working weekends were spent on our newly 

acquired Hag Dyke repairing and decorating.ô 
 

A newspaper report under the heading The Story of Nineteen Eventful Years 

tells a very similar story. óDuring such an occasion [when the Group was working on 

óThe Chaletô, as the small barn was christened] a local landowner who was trying to 

drive a jeep to the top of Great Whernside ï over 2000 feet high had become badly 

stuck but with the use of ropes we had brought along for caving and a considerable 

amount of man power we were able to get the vehicle clear. This was our introduction 

to a very good friend who there and then gave us the sole permanent use of an empty 

farmhouse as a hostelô. 

 

Another source tells that the landlord of Hag Dyke, Mr Henderson, visited 

óThe Chaletô, several times during this period [the initial work] and those on site did 

their best by offering cups of tea etc. to impress him with their keenness and 

efficiency. Because of, or perhaps in spite of, the cups of tea he evidently did take a 

positive view of the activities and said that the Group might have the full use of Hag 

Dyke more or less permanently and rent free. In addition he sent a plumber to see to 

the water supply, and provided paint for the outside of the house. 
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Bruce Clark tells that before the war [World War II] Colonel Maufe, who 

became  District Commissioner, had a house at Grassington where there was a hut in 

the garden kitted out as a bunk house and used by the scouts who went by bus to 

Burnsall and then walked to Grassington. 

 

Ron óSkipperô Ibbetson recounts the developing story in an article published in 

The Scouter.44 óOur ideas were unpretentious and to be offered a large farmhouse high 

on the slopes of Great Whernside was something of a shock. I remember our 

impressions as we completed the long climb from the dale to visit our new home. It 

was a warm day in the late spring of 1947. The last of the snow still clung to the 

shoulder of the mountain which towers above the farm, and small drifts could still be 

seen along the walls surrounding the house. We could see that the building was quite 

a large one. There were several barns around a square croft, nestling below a rocky 

escarpment. All around were breathtaking views of stretches of wild moor disected by 

deep ravines where the becks broke through the limestone of the lower hillsides. Here 

was true scouting country, where any lad would surely feel a real spirit of adventure, 

1,525 feet up and one and a half miles from the village.ô 

 

Hag Dykeôs lonely position is unique. It is so secluded that other than from the 

south east (or a long way across the valley) it is not visible until you are within a few 

hundred yards of the paddock gate. It is this easterly aspect that in winter brings snow 

from the arctic of Scandinavia, (and in a good winter the snow lasts for three months 

so that the only approach to the hostel is on foot). 

 

A plaque above the door now records the generosity of Mr Henderson; 

 

IN VERY GRATEFUL MEMORY OF  

BECKET HENDERSON 
A KIND & GENEROUS FRIEND, 

WHO GAVE TO US IN 1947 THE USE 

OF OUR BELOVED HOSTEL OF 

HAG DYKE. 

 

 Mr Ibbetson wrote to the parents of members of the Scout Group 10th 

September 1947; óOur new permanent Camp Site, Hag Dyke Farm, Kettlewell on the 

edge of Great Whernside, will be opened officially by Mr & Mrs W Becket 

Henderson at 4p.m. on Saturday, September 27th.ô He advised that it had proved 

impossible to hire any private buses and that transport for parents would need to be by 

private car or the one convenient public bus from Skipton and return. He pointed out 

that óthe farm cannot be reached by car and the approach consists of quite a stiff climb 

by field paths of about one and a half miles éô. He continued; óWe have fixed up a 

special lorry for all our Scouts and Cubs and should be glad if you would inform your 

boy to be at the Scout Hut at 1.30p.m. bringing one shilling return fareô. óMercifully 

the day was fineô writes Peter Warnes óthe ceremony was conducted with the grace 

and gratitude befitting the occasion. As Jerrold Turnerôs father was a signwriter by 

profession he was coerced into producing a very fine sign which was hung, covered 

with a union flag and rigged for unfurling. Mr Henderson was given that honour. Mr 

Henderson said how glad he was that the Scouts, with their moral and religious 



 42 

background should have such a centre and that he hoped it would make them a happy 

home for many years to come. 

 

A few days later a letter from Mr Henderson praised the work we had done so 

far, complimenting us on providing this facility for healthy outdoor activities and for 

our vision to extend the use of the facility to other scout groups. A cheque of 

significant value towards ongoing costs and developments was enclosed.ô 

 

In 1949 Pip Woodhead took a photograph of Hag Dyke which was reproduced 

as a postcard and copies sold in the Kettlewell village shop. This photograph shows 

Hag Dyke as it was before the major work which was carried out in the late 1950s. 

 
 

 
 

Tony Warnes remembers the unveiling of the sign announcing the arrival of 

the 1st Ben Rhydding Scout Group at Hag Dyke. óIn the morning before the ceremony 

there had been a Union Flag hung to cover the new sign and a cord attached that was 

running up to the guttering and down the side of the door so that Mr Henderson could 

pull the cord at the appropriate time and unveil the new sign. 

However it was quite breezy that day and we found that the flag kept blowing 

to the side and exposing the sign. I seem to remember it was one of the leaders who 

had chewing gum with them and quite a bit of this was issued with instructions to 

chew it and hand it back in the chewed state. Thus with a substantial lump of freshly 

chewed gum on each of the bottom corners of the new sign the flag then remained 

firmly in place even though it was breezy. 

When Mr Henderson came to the point where he was ready to unveil the sign 

he gave the cord a good pull but nothing happened, he just could not get the flag to 

move. Skipper very quickly realised what the problem was, calmly walked over to the 

flag, removed the chewing gum and hey presto the flag went up showing us the new 

sign. Skipper walked back to his place with chewing gum in hand and a big smile on 

his face.ô 
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 The Ownership 
 

We learnt earlier how Harold Edgar Bradley and Mary Bradley, widow, sold 

Hag Dyke and other property, lands and sheep gaites by a Conveyance and 

Assignment45  dated 17 July 1939 to William Becket Henderson of the Manor House, 

Kettlewell, Wool Merchant. 

 

Mr Henderson retained that property until a Deed of Gift 46 was made 11 

December 1959 between William Becket Henderson (the Donor) and Coutts & Co 

and Jessie Blossom Coulthurst (the Donees). óThe Donor conveys all that close of 

land situate at Hag Dyke, Kettlewell in the County of York conveyed to the Donor by 

a conveyance dated 17 July 1939 between Harold Edgar Bradley of the First part 

Mary Bradley of the Second part and the Donor of the Third part which said close of 

land contains an area of .02 acres or thereabouts, all buildings erected thereon and 

also so far as the Donor has power to grant the same a right to place and use a sewer 

or drain through the adjoining property being part of Whernside Common. To hold 

the same unto the Donees in fee simple upon the charitable trusts declared in a 

Settlement for charitable purposes made the second day of April 1947 between John 

William Coulthurst of the one part and the said John William Coulthurst and the 

Donees of the other part.ô A clause is inserted that the óDonees covenant with the 

Donor to maintain and keep in sufficient repair and condition all walls surrounding 

the propertyô. A plan is attached to the Deed delineating the walls around the paddock 

and showing the farm building and small barn, now incorporating the chapel. It also 

shows the proposed position of the sewer from outside the current kitchen at the back 

of the house in a south west direction to a septic tank. The present sewer is almost 

directly south from the kitchen. 

 

A lease47  was made 12 of April 1960 between Coutts & Co and Jessie 

Blossom Coulthurst, óthe landlordsô, and Frederick William Broadbent Maufe, 

Charles William Ronald Ibbetson and Gerald Roy Walker, óthe Trusteesô of the 1st 

Ben Rhydding Scout Group in respect of all that close of land at Hag Dyke, 

Kettlewell and the buildings thereon for one year and thereafter from year to year 

paying during the tenancy a rent of one shilling on the first day of January. An 

attached schedule details the obligations of the Trustees including ónot to use the 

demised premises and the buildings erected thereon except as a Youth or Scout Hostel 

or for such other purposes as may be sanctioned or approved of from time to time in 

writing by the Landlordsô. The land to the north west and south west of the Hostel 

paddock is marked on the attached plan as belonging to W B Henderson. Roy Walker 

was a scout leader of the 1st Ben Rhydding at the inception of Hag Dyke and well 

remembers Skipper Ibbetson asking him for 4d (240d to the pound and 12d to a 

shilling in those days, so about one and a half pence in todayôs money) as his share of 

the annual rent. 

 

A Deed of Gift was made the 25th August 1962 between William Becket 

Henderson and his wife Diana Henderson of óall those closes or parcels of land situate 

in Kettlewell aforesaid formerly part of Hag Dyke farm comprising éô together with 

rights, lands and sheepgates. The parcels of land are numbered on a plan and named in 

an attached schedule together with their acreage. The site of Hag Dyke farm house 

and its paddock were not included in the gift as earlier we recorded that they had 
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passed to the Coulthurst Trust in 1959. The field immediately to the west of Hag 

Dyke, numbered 87, was also not included in the gift. 

 

In November 1974 most of the land adjacent to Hag Dyke and stretching down 

the hillside to Dowber Gill bridge, at the time owned by Mrs Henderson, was sold to 

R.W.M.and M.J.Foster.  

 

In 1995 with the hostel requiring expensive maintenance on the south facing 

wall the Group Scout Leader wrote to the Coulthurst Trust in the following terms; óAs 

I indicated to you everybody here at the 1st Ben Rhydding has an interest in ensuring 

the continued operation of Hag Dyke and in so far as costs of the works are concerned 

every endeavour will be made to produce the necessary funding. é we do appreciate 

that the size of the Trust may now be a limited factor in so far as any help that can be 

offered to the Group. é the Trustees might consider granting the Group a longer term 

lease which will be on a full repairing and insuring basis éô 

 

The Group received the draft of a 25 year lease in respect of the future use of 

the hostel in October 1996 but there is no documentation to explain what immediate 

action, if any, was taken, however it appears that the financial concerns of 1995 

regarding the gable end wall were met. At a Wardenôs meeting held on the 19 May 

1998 it was reported that the ótrust no longer has funds for the upkeep of the building 

and are therefore keen for the Group to take on an extended lease. The matter is still 

being negotiated by the G.S.L. An extended lease could involve extra costs e.g. 

insurance of building which currently the Trust pay.ô A letter from the Group Scout 

Leader to the Coulthurst Trust of February 2000 advises that óthe question of the lease 

is on hold pending resolution of the outstanding matters relating to the gable wall. I 

can confirm it is still the Groups wish that there should be a longer term lease in place 

in respect of the premisesô. At the time of writing [2012] no progress had been made 

regarding a longer lease. 

 

Bill Midgley, the Chairman of the Hag Dyke Committee reported to a 

Wardenôs meeting 19 November 1997 that he had received a telephone call from John 

Henderson, son of Becket Henderson, that it was his motherôs wish (following her 

death) that the meadow immediately to the west of Hag Dyke referred to above as 

numbered 87 on the plan should be donated to the scouts. This parcel of freehold land, 

2acres 3 rods 31 perches, was filed at the Land Registry 12 February 2001 with the 

proprietor named as The Scout Association Trust Corporation. In October 1981 Mrs 

Henderson had donated half the cost of the flag pole erected in the paddock between 

the hostel and the chapel. 

 

Thus currently the hostel, the chapel and the immediate surrounding land are 

owned by the Coulthurst Trust and leased to the 1st Ben Rhydding Scout Group on a 

yearly basis and the field immediately to the west is owned by The Scout Association 

Trust Corporation. 

 

In its recent annual report to the Charity Commissioners the Coulthurst Trust 

has referred to Hag Dyke as follows ó Historically the trustees have researched the 

development or improvement of this property but it is not financially viable or 

practicable as there is no possibility of road access to the property. There is no 
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opportunity to increase the propertyôs current value of Ã50,000 and the property will 

need maintenance work in the short termô. 

 

 

Our Landlords - The Hendersons, the Coulthursts and the 

Coulthurst Trust  
 

William Becket Henderson, generally known as óBecketô, the landowner who 

so kindly offered óSkipperô Ibbetson the use of Hag Dyke, was born 31 January 1900 

at Shipley, the second child of John and Lillian Henderson who in 1901 were living at 

39 Hall Royd, Shipley. John was a Woolsalesman, born at Alva, near Perth, Scotland 

28 March 1865, son of William and Janet nee McNiven, where his paternal ancestors 

had been sheep farmers in Perthshire and Sterlingshire for generations. Ten years 

earlier, in 1891 John was a Post Office Clerk living with his mother and six children 

at 49 Arlington Street, Kelvin, Glasgow. Their first child and Williamôs eldest sister, 

one year older, born 10 October 1898 was Jessie Blossom Henderson, of whom more 

later. The names Becket and Blossom come from Lillianôs family whose surname was 

Blossom. Beckett was Lillianôs younger brother. Their parents were Joseph and 

Elizabeth Blossom. In 1891 they and five children were living at 5 St Maryôs Terrace, 

Waterloo Park, Great Crosby, Lancashire. Elizabeth was born at Frome and all the 

children at Liverpool. The 1891 census details Joseph aged 62 as a Hide Merchant 

born at Tahite and a British subject. 

 

Whilst not having any direct bearing on the history of Hag Dyke the census 

records give an interesting aside regarding the Blossom family and in particular 

Joseph. Taking Josephôs records in chronological order in 1851 he was living as a 

lodger aged 22 at Commercial Street, Middlesbrough, a Bookeeper born at Tahote, 

South Pacific and a British subject. Ten years later his name was given as Jos Brunell 

Blossom, living as a boarder at 5 Everton Road, Liverpool, a Commercial Clerk in 

Hides and Leather. In 1871 the records show Joseph Samuel Blossom at 62 St. 

Domingôs? Vale, Everton, still single, a Clerk in the Hide Trade. By 1881 he had 

married and moved to 46 Waterloo Road, Waterloo. His occupation was given as a 

Hide and Leather Merchant and his place of birth South Seas with a note óBorn at 

Seaô. In the same census Josephôs third son is recorded as Daniel B. H. Blossom aged 

4, but in 1891 as Beckett aged 14. 

 

When John Henderson moved to Shipley he went into business in Bradford in 

the wool trade where he prospered travelling widely to Australia, New Zealand, South 

America, Argentina, the United States and Canada. John later moved to Keighley 

where he became associated with the Colonial Combing Company at Melbourne 

Mills. He served on the Keighley Town Council for nine years being elected Mayor in 

1935/6, with his daughter Jessie accompanying him as Mayoress.48  John continued to 

prosper and in the 1920s, keen on fishing and the outdoor life, bought a small cottage 

in Kettlewell which he named Alva Cottage. This was the start of the family acquiring 

parcels of land around Kettlewell where at one time he had a good flock of black 

faced sheep. He was keenly interested in the provision of playing fields and 

recreational facilities for young people and was a member of the executive of the 

County Playing Fields Association and the Yorkshire Association of Boysô Clubs. He 

held the position of Chairman of the Keighley District of the Boy Scouts Association 

and thus it was Becket Hendersonôs father who appears to have had the first family 



 46 

connection with the Scout Movement. At his memorial service the Rev J Nicholson 

Balmer of the Devonshire Street Congregational Church, Keighley said that Mr 

Hendersonôs ógenerosity over a long number of years earned him the designation of 

philanthropist. We have lost from our midst a man of character, integrity, industry and 

rich serviceô. 

 

At the age of 16 Johnôs son, Becket, who had won a scholarship to Bradford 

Grammar School, left the school and joined his fatherôs business. In the middle of the 

1920s Becket was one of the founders of Henderson and Feather, a Keighley mill 

situated in Dalton Lane, which cleaned and combed raw wool from all over the world, 

shipped from Liverpool via the Leeds and Liverpool canal to the warehouses at 

Riddlesden, (where incidentally the present writer was born, brought up and did his 

early Scouting) just over a mile from the Dalton Lane mill. There he carved out a 

highly successful career, retiring in 1960. Mr Henderson served on the Board of 

Skipton Building Society from 1952 ï 1974, and was chairman for three years. He 

served as a Governor of Ermysteadôs Grammar School, Skipton, was a Tax 

Commissioner and churchwarden at St. Peterôs Church, Coniston Cold, a position he 

held at his death. The country and its pursuits were among his main leisure interests. 

He continued to purchase land, partly because he and his three sisters all loved horses 

and hunting. In 1936 Becket married Diana Wilson at Chapel en le Frith, Derbyshire, 

and moved into the Manor House, Kettlewell having inherited a keen and lasting 

interest in the area. In 1947 he bought Stainton Cotes, Coniston Cold and moved his 

family there around Christmas 1950. He retained the Manor House at Kettlewell as 

his wife had indicated that if she ever became a widow she would wish to return there. 

Unfortunately when she eventually became a widow her health prevented her return to 

Kettlewell. Becketôs son William John Henderson, who now [2012] lives at Kelber 

Farm, Coniston Cold, took over the running of the Henderson Estate but in recent 

years has rented out much of the land for grazing.  

 

On 18 June 1928 Becket was appointed one of the Trust Lords of Kettlewell, a 

position he held until his death when his son John was appointed for several years. 

 

Becket Henderson, through whose inspiration and kindness Hag Dyke was 

made available as a Scout Hostel died on the 6th January 1981 and the Hag Dyke 

voluntary wardens were given the honour of acting as pall bearers at his funeral held 

in the Parish Church of Kettlewell where both he and his wife are buried. The whole 

village attended as a mark of respect to this kind and generous gentleman. 

 

Becket made his Will 13th December 1979 some two years before he died in 

which he appointed his son John as executor and trustee. In the Will he expressed his 

wish to be buried at Kettlewell Church and that his gravestone should be made of 

natural limestone with a suitable plaque. The gross value of his estate was £193,507.  

 

 



 47 

 


